

How Jing-Jin-Ji Can Lead the Way

October 2015





The wind-rich region of Zhangjiakou in Hebei Province, pictured here and on the cover, features rolling green hills scattered with windmills. As of September 2015, Hebei has 9GW of wind installed, out of a national total of over 105GW as of mid-2015.



About the Paulson Institute:

The Paulson Institute is a "think and do" tank that promotes environmental protection and sustainable development in the United States and China, while advancing bilateral economic relations and cross-border investment. Established in 2011 by Henry M. Paulson, Jr., the Institute is committed to the principle that today's most pressing economic and environmental challenges can be solved only if the United States and China work in complementary ways. The non-partisan institute is headquartered at the University of Chicago with staff in Beijing, San Francisco, New York and Washington D.C. The Institute focuses on research, programs, and advocacy that promote increased economic activity to spur job creation, smart urban growth and responsible environmental policies. Our Think Tank publishes papers on the most important macroeconomic issues facing China today, energy strategies, and issues in U.S.-China economic relations. To learn more please visit www.paulsoninstitute.org

© 2015 The Paulson Institute. All Right Reserved. Contact: media@paulsoninstitute.org Design by Jonathan Tsao, Chinabeat Ltd.



中国国际经济交流中心 China Center for International Economic Exchanges

About CCIEE, our Supporting Organization

China Center for International Economic Exchanges (CCIEE), founded on March 20th, 2009, is registered with the Ministry of Civil Affairs, and operates under the guidance and supervision of the National Development and Reform Commission in terms of its business scope. The main scope of work for CCIEE is: to conduct research on major international and domestic economic issues; to conduct international exchanges and cooperation; to provide government with intellectual support and to provide enterprises and other sectors of society with a platform for economic exchanges.

CCIEE is committed to serving China's development, improving people's livelihood and promoting exchanges and cooperation. By adhering to the socialist theoretical system with Chinese characteristics and the value of Originality, Objectively, Rationality and Compatibility, CCIEE actively conducts research on significant domestic and international theoretical and strategic issues. CCIEE compiles periodicals such as *Research Report, Think-tank's Voice, Information Feedback* and a monthly journal called *Globalization*.

For more about CCIEE, visit http://english.cciee.org.cn

China's Next Opportunity: Sustainable Economic Transition

How Jing-Jin-Ji Can Lead the Way

Authors

Anders Hove, Merisha Enoe and Kate Gordon The Paulson Institute

External Reviewers

Li Junfeng (李俊峰)	National Center for Climate Change Strategy and International Cooperation (NCSC)
Weidou Ni (倪维斗)	Tsinghua University
Linwei Ma (麻林巍)	Tsinghua University
Yongfu Huang (黄永富)	China Center for International Economic Exchanges (CCIEE)
Hal Harvey	Energy Innovation
Jeremy Schreifels	U.S. Environmental Protection Agency

External reviewers do not necessarily endorse the views expressed in the paper





FOREWORD

Dear Reader,

I believe that the U.S.-China relationship is the most important bilateral relationship in the world, and it is critical that we work together to solve the world's most important problems. One of our greatest challenges is how to pursue a new economic growth model that takes environmental sustainability into account. In China in particular, air pollution is affecting health and quality of life today, while climate change threatens the nation's future. These are not purely environmental challenges; they pose a critical threat to China's economy and long-term prosperity.

That's why I am so pleased to share the results of this Paulson Institute paper, "China's Next Opportunity: Sustainable Economic Transition." The paper makes the case for a truly sustainable economic growth strategy for China, one that takes air quality and climate change into account as part of a larger strategy aimed at diversifying China's economy away from its historic dependence on heavy industry. We focus specifically on the Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei region (also known as Jing-Jin-Ji), which is home to growing cities, fast-urbanizing suburbs and rural areas, and core industrial strongholds like the steel powerhouse of Hebei Province. The paper presents an overview of this region and its need to move to a more sustainable economic growth strategy, with particular emphasis on those industries that are the largest current contributors to the region's emissions profile.

Overall, this initial paper in our Jing-Jin-Ji series confirms that a sustainable economic transition is not only necessary, but also entirely achievable for this region. Just as China is now taking the lead in many areas of clean energy technology today, the Jing-Jin-Ji region has the potential to play a leadership role in showing how to help existing industries like those in Hebei become more efficient and cleaner, while also attracting new renewable and efficient energy technologies as tomorrow's economic drivers.

We do not approach these issues through rose-colored glasses. We acknowledge that many aspects of China's sustainable economic transition are challenging, especially for local leaders in cities currently powered by heavy industrial growth. But we also point to lessons from U.S. cities that have overcome industrial decline through economic development strategies that focus on a more diverse industry mix, including clean technology manufacturing and deployment.

This is just the beginning: in the coming year, the Paulson Institute will provide in-depth analysis of specific industry sectors in the Jing-Jin-Ji region, along with specific recommendations for transition strategies for these sectors. In doing so, we will continue to build on our strong relationships with Chinese and U.S. leaders and experts who are already developing real-world solutions to the particular challenges faced by leaders in the Jing-Jin-Ji region.

At the end of the day, we believe that this paper and its conclusions can serve as the basis for deeper understanding and cooperation between the U.S. and China. Nothing reinforces the benefits of cooperation more than jointly tackling the environmental and economic challenges that affect us both. With this paper, we invite you to join us in that journey, towards a more stable and prosperous future.

Sincerely,

Henry M. Paulson, Jr. Chairman

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The Paulson Institute is grateful for the support of many esteemed individuals and organizations for their insights and contributions to this paper. We express our sincere gratitude to the individuals and organizations listed below for their contributions.

Energy Innovation Steel Sector Emissions Modeling

Jeff Rissman of Energy Innovation provided modelling support to evaluate the impact of efficiency improvements for achieving emissions reductions in China's iron and steel sector.

Tsinghua Air Quality Modeling

The following individuals from the Tsinghua School of Environment developed and implemented a simulation for analysis of the impact of emissions reductions on ambient air quality in the JJJ region.

Xing Chang (常兴), Kebin He (贺克斌), Wang Shuxiao (王书肖), Wenjing Wu (吴文景), Qiang Zhang (张强) and Bin Zhao (赵斌)

Modeling Review

Valerie Karplus of the Massachusetts Institute of Technology (MIT) provided input to earlier drafts of the report.

Chinese Case Studies

Several experts helped provide information for case studies that highlight positive examples of projects contributing to China's sustainable economic transition:

Shicong Zhang (张时聪), Chinese Academy of Building Research; Zhenbo Liu (刘振波), Handan Textile; Hedong Wei (魏贺东), Orient Sundar Group; Guangbai Ma (马光柏), Linuo Ritter; Yang Wan (万扬), Institute for Industrial Productivity; Xuemin Zeng (曾学敏), China Cement Association, Ying Zhang (张莹), China Academy of Social Sciences; Rosie Pidcock, UGE; Zhimin Ling (凌志敏), APS; Jiani Huang (黃佳 妮), SPD Bank; Guiqing Tian (田桂清), Beijing Department of Housing and Urban-Rural Development; and Yang Feng (冯阳), Broad Energy

U.S. Case Studies

Several U.S. experts reviewed and provided input to U.S. case studies that summarize lessons learned from economic transformation in cities in the Rust Belt and California:

Adrienne Alvord, Union of Concerned Scientists; Frank Calzonetti, University of Toledo; Karen Clay, Carnegie Mellon University; Sabina Deitrick, University of Pittsburgh; Ryan McCarthy, California Air Resources Board; Richey Piiparinen, Cleveland State University; Aaron Renn, Manhattan Institute; Jim Russell, Cleveland State University; and Mark Shanahan, Former Ohio State Government

Production

We would also like to thank the Paulson Institute team for their invaluable support throughout various stages of paper development, in particular: Elle Carberry, Chelsea Eakin, Dinda Elliott, Hortense Halle-Yang, Ben Herst, Cindy Jiang (姜 新燕) Lily Lou (娄雪莲) and Amy Wan (万婧)

Photos

Creative Commons photo credit is due to Flickr's egorgrebnev, Daniel Parks, Remaking Cities, t3hWIT, David Grant and Louis Raphael.

CONTENTS

Acknowledgements 1 Introduction and Executive Summary	2 4
1 Introduction and Executive Summary	4
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
2 Improved environmental practices are necessary for China's economic transition	8
2.1 A transition can help ensure clean, sustainable growth	8
2.2 Air pollution and climate change have significant economic impacts	8
2.3 Tighter environmental standards can improve competitiveness	10
2.4 China has reached a turning point in sustainable development	11
2.5 China's current policies provide a framework for sustainable economic transition	12
3 Industrial transition, cleaner air, and green growth	14
3.1 Industrial efficiency and economic transition are important starting points for Jing-Jin-Ji	14
3.2 Prioritize industrial emissions reductions and efficiency	15
3.3 Within each industry, there are major opportunities for emissions reductions and energy efficiency improvements	19
3.4 New and emerging clean energy industries are driving sustainable economic growth	22
4 Lessons for Jing-Jin-Ji from U.S. economic transition cases	38
4.1 Pittsburgh: Targeted R&D spending and public-private collaboration	32
4.2 Ohio: Renewable energy and comprehensive job training programs	37
4.3 California: Clean and diversified growth	41
5 Conclusions	46
About the Authors	
References	48

INTRODUCTION AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

s short-term air quality and long-term climate risks come into focus for China, there is a clear need for an economic transition that allows the country to shift to a more diverse, low-carbon, and innovative economy—in other words, a more economically and environmentally sustainable economic growth model. And because China is the world's second largest economy and largest emitter of carbon dioxide, its development decisions have far-reaching implications.¹

The Paulson Institute defines sustainable economic transition as an economic and industrial move away from polluting, heavy industry to development that is low-carbon, resource efficient, diversified to include service-based industries, and supported by a talented workforce to drive new innovation. Such a transition is closely in line with both China's economic and environmental goals, and consistent with national air quality targets and evolving national efforts to combat climate change. For example, the 12th Five-Year Plan (2011-2015) called for a more strategic approach to development, efficient use of resources and prioritization of low-carbon growth—a theme that will likely be reemphasized in the upcoming 13th Five-Year Plan (2016-2020).

Similarly, China's 2013 Action Plan on Air Pollution Control and Prevention established a framework for addressing air pollution, with a particularly detailed series of steps and objectives for three important regions, including the Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei region, or Jing-Jin-Ji.² The nation's 2014 climate change plan detailed China's commitment to low-carbon development by spelling out a new national program for reducing carbon intensity and capping CO₂ by 2030 ³ —a plan that was formalized through China's Intended Nationally Determined Contribution (INDC) to the United Nations Convention on Climate Change, released in June 2015. ⁴ As China faces increased pollution, rapid urbanization, and economic pressure to diversify its industries away from a heavy manufacturing base, the country is prioritizing an economic transition that can address all these issues and serve as a model for other nations.

China's Jing-Jin-Ji region presents a compelling opportunity to highlight the opportunities—and the challenges—in transitioning to a more sustainable economic growth model. Located in Northern China, the Jing-Jin-Ji region is a rapidly developing economic cluster with a population of 130 million that accounted for roughly 10% of China's annual GDP in 2014. ⁵ More recently, the Chinese government has prioritized Jing-Jin-Ji regional economic integration to spur development. ⁶ The region is diverse, including areas of intense industrial activity, modern urban centers, and edge districts trying to resist urban sprawl and maintain a rural character. Jing-Jin-Ji's Hebei province, home to some of China's largest steel and iron manufacturers, and to some of the most polluted cities in the world, is a key focus of the Chinese government's industrial efficiency improvements and air quality control.

With this paper, we outline a vision for a sustainable economic transition in the Jing-Jin-Ji region, which we hope will ultimately inspire a similar transition across China. Given its diverse economic mix, strong policy and regulatory environment, and central location in China, the Jing-Jin-Ji region has the potential to dramatically reduce emissions and set the tone for China's nationwide transformation toward a more sustainable growth model. Changes already taking place in the Jing-Jin-Ji region are just a microcosm of what will soon begin happening nationwide if onthe-ground implementation matches up to government aspirations.

With this paper, we outline a vision for a sustainable economic transition in the Jing-Jin-Ji region, which we hope will ultimately inspire a similar transition across China. The paper presents brief illustrations of cases in the U.S. and China where such transitions are already underway and have created new jobs and industries, and lays the groundwork for future in-depth analysis from the Paulson Institute of how a similar transition might occur in the Jing-Jin-Ji region. Through such illustrations, the report underlines a broad theme: **a strong policy framework can inspire private sector innovation and investment, and together they create a foundation for a sustainable, productive, and prosperous economy.**

Section 2 of the paper reviews macro-level factors that show how economic transition and environmental quality can go hand-in-hand for China at its present state of development. Decades of experience in other countries



JING-JIN-JI IN RELATION TO CHINA: LOCATION, POPULATION AND GDP

Source: National Bureau of Statistics, 2014

suggest that intelligent policies can enable higher-quality growth that is consistent with both environmental and economic goals. (In our earlier paper *Climate Change, Air Quality and the Economy,* we outlined ways in which national policy and enforcement could be improved to achieve this result.)

A detailed analysis of emissions, air quality and energy efficiency data in section 3 concludes that industrial transition is key to cleaner air and lower CO₂ emissions—and that this transition can be accomplished in part through industrial upgrades and energy efficiency. Section 3 goes on to summarize the steps that cities and businesses in Jing-Jin-Ji are already taking to transition to more sustainable growth models. Many cities in Jing-Jin-Ji are face-to-face with the harsh economic consequences of shifting away from overdependence on polluting, heavy industry like steel following long-term over dependence on this industry. Others in the region are at a relative advantage since they began diversifying their economies early by pursuing new and lower-carbon industries like solar and wind power development. The section contains the following policy suggestions:

- Based on the relative impact on ambient air quality and carbon emissions, environmental and economic officials should prioritize reducing emissions and increasing efficiency in Jing-Jin-Ji's industrial and public heating sectors.
- The government should **prioritize energy efficiency improvements** within the iron and steel sector, such as through deepening the Top 10,000 Enterprises program. While economic transition away from fixedasset investment and the elimination of overcapacity in steel will naturally help reduce emissions, energy efficiency measures still have a large scope for reducing PM2.5 and carbon emissions from the iron and steel sector.
- Hebei should increase attention to policies that **promote renewable energy and energy efficiency**, since these two industries have strong growth and job creation potential.

Section 4 highlights case studies from the United States, where once-industrial cities and states have found a way to pursue economic growth while also addressing environmental and climate concerns. We focus on California and the U.S. Rust Belt cities of Pittsburgh, Cleveland, and Toledo. The section contains the following policy prescriptions:

- City officials must make early efforts to **identify new industries for growth**, rather than seek to revitalize declining industries and fuel sources. Rust Belt cities that recognized the need to diversify their economies early got a head start on those that concentrated on protecting jobs in legacy industries undergoing automation or downsizing.
- Strategic investments in R&D, tied through local institutions of higher education, can be an effective method for fostering new clusters of industry or services. In particular, cities should focus on identifying a strategic R&D focus, based on existing assets and infrastructure, as opposed to funding higher education overall or merely upgrading existing legacy manufacturing centers.
- Integration of policy goals at the national, regional and local

Hebei should increase attention to policies that promote renewable energy and energy efficiency, since these two industries have strong growth and job creation potential. **level** is key to ensuring that environmental and economic prosperity go hand in hand. By taking a leadership role in setting and enforcing strict environmental standards and energy policy goals, regions can encourage innovation and foster new industries.

While the cases in the U.S. occurred in contexts very different from China, all have important lessons for policymakers considering how to minimize the potentially negative short-term after effects of economic transition.

2. IMPROVED ENVIRONMENTAL PRACTICES ARE NECESSARY FOR CHINA'S ECONOMIC TRANSITION

2.1 A transition can help ensure clean, sustainable growth

China is slowing industrial growth and tapering investment in infrastructure to reduce overcapacity in steel, cement and glass manufacturing. These shifts are causing economic pain in regions that are overly dependent on manufacturing, including Jing-Jin-Ji's Hebei, but they are creating economic opportunities as China looks to emerging, lower-carbon industries including renewable energy and energy efficiency.

Despite a short-term economic slowdown, cities in Jing-Jin-Ji are identifying ways to take advantage of the economic shift by leapfrogging technologies, creating standards, and strengthening enforcement to move towards cleaner, higher-quality growth. The central government has also made important policy progress to support a sustainable economic transition, including incentives to promote renewable energy and energy efficiency. China's new Environmental Protection Law, coupled with improvements in local enforcement, is beginning to push the country's most industrial regions towards cleaner development models. Nevertheless, there are many opportunities to accelerate change. Chinese leaders and businesses should identify those areas where policies and private sector investment can have the biggest impact on technology deployment, cluster development and low-carbon economic growth.

2.2 Air pollution and climate change have significant economic impacts

China has reached a stage in its development where pollution is hindering economic growth. Conventional air pollutants like sulfur dioxide (SO_2) and nitrogen oxides (NO_x) – two major precursors to PM2.5 pollution – have near-term air quality implications, including health impacts that result in lost productivity and damaged ecosystems. Most large Chinese cities are experiencing levels of pollution far above those considered acceptable by international health standards: in 2014, only eight of China's 74 largest cities met national standards for air quality. ⁷ According to a 2014 study by Tsinghua and Peking University, ambient air pollution from coal consumption caused an estimated 670,000 excess deaths in China in 2012. ⁸

Climate change and air pollution also have long-term social and economic implications. As a result of rising levels of carbon dioxide—a gas that can remain in the atmosphere for hundreds of years—China faces enormous risks from climate change, including increased extreme weather events, and more frequent and longer droughts affecting the country's food supply and rural economy. China's low-lying coastal areas, home to as many as 60 million

China has reached a stage in its development where pollution is hindering economic growth.

SOURCES OF AIR POLLUTION IN CHINA



Source: Berkeley Earth, 2015

Sources of PM2.5 air pollution are concentrated in and around the Jing-Jin-Ji region.



While the highest emissions of PM2.5 are concentrated in the Jing-Jin-Ji region, the impact of those emissions is nationwide.

people, are particularly vulnerable to flooding from climate change. ⁹ Among the reasons why China must prioritize a cleaner environment, along with the obvious public health and quality of life issues, is the country's need to attract and retain a talented, global workforce. While Chinese educated abroad are returning in large numbers, the statistics show the movement is not just in one direction. According to Chinese Ministry of Education statistics, in 2013 over 350,000 overseas Chinese returned to China, a steady increase versus just 69,000 in 2008. But alarmingly, many returnees leave China again due to concerns about pollution, among other factors. In fact, up to half of new returnees may leave China again within six months. ¹⁰ A 2014 Hurun study of China's wealthy individuals-defined by Hurun as those with assets over US\$ 1.6 million—found that 60% of high-income Chinese returnees were considering leaving the country for reasons of pollution, food safety, and education for their children.¹¹ In addition, recruiting firms frequently cite air quality as the top reason they have difficulty attracting global talent to China.¹² Foreign firms sometimes add a hardship premium or other benefits such as extra vacation to encourage people to locate in China, ¹³ in some cases, this premium is as high as 10% of base compensation.¹⁴

In the Jing-Jin-Ji region, there are clear signs that air quality is affecting the region's ability to attract and retain talent. Businesses are reportedly less likely to choose Beijing as a place to set up operations due to pollution,¹⁵ in some cases because managers are unwilling to locate in China. Pollution is also affecting the relocation decisions of business owners already operating in China: A 2011 study by China Merchants Bank and Bain and Company showed that of Chinese business owners with over RMB 100 million, 27% had emigrated and 47% were considering relocation.¹⁶

Among the reasons why China must prioritize a cleaner environment, along with the obvious public health and quality of life issues, is the country's need to attract and retain a talented, global workforce. Relocation decisions matter for China because of the critical role of human capital in the economic transition towards advanced technology and higher incomes. The desire of high-performing creative people to concentrate in a particular geographic region around business or economic activities, otherwise known as "clustering," is especially important in the era of global labor mobility. Trends suggest that oftentimes technology clusters form in places with strong cultural and natural amenities. Once a cluster forms, the region tends to benefit from knowledge spillovers within high-tech geographic areas.¹⁷ While the Chinese market will remain a magnet for global talent in the short term because of its size and growth, evidence strongly suggests that pollution—especially air quality—increasingly affects relocation decisions.¹⁸

2.3 Tighter environmental standards can improve competitiveness

Strong policies and environmental standards play an important role in reducing emissions and promoting competitive low-carbon economic growth. While incumbent industries often argue that regulations hinder company growth, environmental standards can both foster innovation and give some companies a technology first-mover advantage over their peers.¹⁹

Stricter environmental standards and enforcement act in several ways that can improve industrial performance. The most straightforward is by encouraging innovation: In response to regulation, companies often increase R&D spending to bring down abatement costs, and reorganize production techniques to increase efficiency and reduce pollution.²⁰ A real-life example of such innovation comes from the U.S. electric utility industry, where tighter rules on sulfur dioxide in the 1990s encouraged companies to develop cheaper and more efficient scrubber technology as well as new fuel blends with lower emissions.²¹ While it is arguable that spurring clean energy innovation limits investment in other fields-for example, higher global oil prices from 2005-2014 shifted auto R&D funding towards batteries and hybrids and away from improving conventional engines²²—such shifts may catalyze entirely new technology pathways. A similar example from China is development of cleaner-burning vehicles and tailpipe emissions technologies at Dongfeng Nissan in China after new vehicle emissions standards were adopted in the 1990s and 2000s. 23

The conventional view holds that looser regulation attracts industry, while tighter regulation causes industry to flee to "pollution havens." Indeed, China is sometimes portrayed as such a haven. At the country level, the evidence for this "pollution haven" theory is inconclusive compared to other factors such as labor and capital costs. ²⁴ For example, in China's industrial northeast, heavily polluting industries initially thrived partly due to relatively low capital costs, fast construction times, and cheap financing terms available to state-owned firms—not so much due to lax environmental regulation attracting business from abroad. ²⁵ The result has been overcapacity in domestic steel, glass and cement industries.

Stricter environmental standards and enforcement act in several ways that can improve industrial performance. The most straightforward is by encouraging innovation. In contrast, tighter environmental regulations can actually spur innovation and help firms become more competitive as they invest in education, training, and early-stage research and development. ²⁶ Such investments, including those in equipment modernization, can reduce labor and energy costs, producing long-term financial benefits.

Perhaps most important, regulations can give certain firms and regions a first-mover advantage in new technologies, products, and business models. Examples of this first-mover advantage abound: The Japanese auto industry in the 1970s gained a leg up in emissions standards, at the same time as European carmakers developed an advantage on safety. Refineries in Los Angeles upgraded technology in response to tighter local emissions standards in the 1980s, subsequently showing productivity gains and profits ahead of peers in Texas and Louisiana.²⁷ The case of Tesla in California also shows how environmental regulations, in this case a low-carbon fuel standard and targeted incentives for electric vehicle purchase combined with a cap and trade system for carbon emissions, catalyzed the creation of an electric vehicle manufacturing leader.

2.4 China has reached a turning point in sustainable development

China is an upper-middle-income economy with the resources available to address environmental pollution. ²⁸ As incomes rise, so do quality of life demands, and citizens, leaders, and businesses alike expect a cleaner environment. ²⁹ China can take advantage of the work other countries have done to develop and commercialize technologies to address air pollution, and can also become a model for other countries in its ability to scale up technology deployment and sustainable growth strategies. While structural factors in the country's energy system, such as the predominance of coalderived energy and the relative lack of domestic natural gas, work against rapid change, China is already taking the lead in transforming its energy system towards a cleaner, low-carbon model.

We believe China is at a stage where it has the financial resources and the access to technology to research and adopt air quality solutions that have been developed and applied in the industrialized world. Economists in China generally support this viewpoint, and agree the country has reached the per capita income threshold where it should begin to see improved environmental quality as the economy continues to grow, a concept frequently referred to as the Environmental Kuznets Curve. ³⁰ According to a 2012 Tsinghua University study, because of increased environmental and scientific awareness, as well as technology learning from the U.S. and other advanced countries, the income level at which the country begins reducing environmental pollution could actually be lower for China than other countries. ³¹ China is already feeling the benefits of adopting advanced technology solutions. For example, as a result of supportive domestic policies, solar manufacturing in China has driven down the cost of solar, spurring global demand for solar photovoltaic (PV) panels,³² while creating jobs and clean energy at home.



Smoggy Days: In 2014, only eight of China's 74 largest cities met national standards for air quality



2.5 China's current policies provide a framework for sustainable economic transition

The Chinese government is already building the policy framework to support a sustainable economic transition. Today, China seeks to become a prosperous, technologically advanced country with a high rate of innovation by pursuing advanced, environmentally friendly industries while upgrading old-line industries. In addition to advanced technology, government policies emphasize innovation, sustainability, and talent development. Top leadership has chosen multiple channels through which to communicate these goals, including at central planning meetings as well as more publically through media channels.

Government leaders most recently reinforced their intention to develop China into an "ecological civilization"—a term the communique defines as "environmental sustainability, resource efficiency, and pollution mitigation"—at the 3rd Plenum of the 18th Communist Party of China (CPC) Central Committee. At the event, the government announced several major goals, including China's commitment to allow markets to play a more decisive role in resource allocation, together with stronger environmental and energy policies.³³

Stated government policy is moving China in the direction of a clean, lowcarbon and innovative economy. Among its policy priorities, clean air is one of the top agenda items. The following section describes in further detail the importance of air quality improvements for China's sustainable economic transition.



Brain Drain: China is facing difficulty attracting foreign talent, and those educated abroad who return to China are leaving again in higher numbers.

Major China Central Government Policies Related to Economic Transition

Technology: China's 12th Five-Year Plan (2011-2015) assigned advanced technology a prominent role and identified seven strategic emerging industries for promotion: energy-saving and environmental protection, next generation information technology, biotech, high-end manufacturing, new energy, new materials, and new-energy vehicles. ³⁴ Environment-related and low-carbon technologies are seen as important elements of China's economic transition. ³⁵ As part of the transition from over-reliance on manufacturing, the country is also promoting a gradual shift towards a consumer and services economy. ³⁶

Innovation: Whereas previously China focused on technology catch-up, continued growth now depends on innovation. ³⁷ Accordingly, China's 2006 Medium to Long-Term Plan for the Development of Science and Technology made promoting indigenous innovation a national strategy. ³⁸ Premier Li Keqiang has spoken about China's efforts to promote innovation through increasing the role of the market and creating a more inclusive environment for entrepreneurs. ³⁹

Sustainable growth: In recent years, China's leaders have increasingly expressed the need to shift from pursuing GDP growth towards considering all aspects of economic well-being, including the environment. For example, President Xi Jinping in 2013 called on the government to pursue "solid and real GDP" and "efficient, quality and sustainable economic development." ⁴⁰ In order to achieve its sustainability goals, China has emphasized the importance of a circular economy, a form of economic development that "aims at environmental protection, pollution prevention and sustainable development through conservation of resources, reusing, and recycling in order to minimize pollution from the source and reduce overall waste per unit output." ⁴¹

Talent: China has laid out plans to become a "talentrich country" by 2020, seeking to attract top talent from abroad, increase investment in human capital, and raise the share of human capital in economic growth. ⁴² The Ministry of Human Resources and Social Security released a strategy in February 2015 outlining steps China would take to develop talent to support local innovation and economic growth. ⁴³ Innovation, technology development and skills training are a few key themes highlighted in the document.

These four areas—technology, innovation, sustainable growth, and talent—overlap in several regards: To become more innovative, the country recognizes the need to develop and retain talent. A rich talent base can help accelerate an economic transition to higher technology industries. And a clean, healthy environment is needed to support this transition and retain talent in the process. From these principles, it is clear that national-level policymakers do not view economic development and environmental protection as trade-offs.

3. INDUSTRIAL TRANSITION, CLEANER AIR, AND GREEN GROWTH

3.1 Industrial efficiency and economic transition are important starting points for Jing-Jin-Ji

Heavy industry has driven China through a remarkable three decades of economic growth. However, industry is also the largest contributor to air pollution, and is now hindering China's future development. China's steel, coke, and cement industries, for example, are the biggest contributors to conventional and greenhouse gas pollution nationwide and in the Jing-Jin-Ji region in particular. ⁴⁴ In recent years the government has adopted strict measures to reduce reliance of high-emissions heavy industry, cut overcapacity, and minimize wasteful and inefficient manufacturing processes. ⁴⁵

The impact of these industrial efficiency and transition policies will be significant to the Jing-Jin-Ji region given that heavy industry is a core participant in the region's economy. Today, the region has a bifurcated economic structure: While the urban economies of Beijing and Tianjin are relatively focused on services and government, the poorer province of Hebei is heavily industrial. Primary and secondary industry accounted for 6% and 41% of Hebei's GDP in 2014, ⁴⁶ and these industries accounted for roughly two-thirds of all employment in the province as of 2012. ⁴⁷ The leading manufacturing industry in the province is iron and steel, with construction materials such as cement and glass also significant—these three industries alone accounted for roughly a third of the province's GDP in 2013. ⁴⁸ Hebei is also the largest steel manufacturing province in China, accounting for 28% of the country's steel output in 2014⁴⁹ —the province produces more steel every year than the next largest steel producing country, Japan. ⁵⁰

Hebei 11% Rest of World 24% Italy 2% Germanv 3% Other China 39% 115 5% S. Korea 1% India/ Japan 5% Hebei produces more steel than any individual country other than China itself.

HEBEI STEEL PRODUCTION

Today, the region has a bifurcated economic structure: While the urban economies of Beijing and Tianjin are relatively focused on services and government, the poorer province of Hebei is heavily industrial.

Source: China Iron and Steel Association, 2014

3.2 **Prioritize industrial emissions reductions and efficiency**

China, and the Jing-Jin-Ji region in particular, has good reason to focus its pollution reduction efforts on efficiency improvements in the industrial sector, though efficient buildings and transportation are also important priorities. This conclusion is based on a Tsinghua analysis completed in partnership with the Paulson Institute to examine the relative impact of emissions reductions on ambient air quality in the Jing-Jin-Ji region in five broad sectors:* buildings, electric power, industry, transportation, and agriculture. ⁵¹ Tsinghua's analysis examined the impact on ambient PM2.5 concentrations of cutting emissions (all pollutants, including but not limited to primary PM2.5, which refers to particulate matter of 2.5 microns or smaller in diameter that scientists consider as most damaging to human health) individually from each of the five sectors in eight cities in the region. The model further analyzed the impact of emissions reductions in subsectors within the industrial sector, the largest emitting sector in the region as a whole.

Overall, modeling results show that reductions in industrial and building emissions (the latter mostly from heating) have the largest impact on ambient air quality. However, these results vary based on the city and season in which the reductions occur.** The results confirm the importance of taking both a localized (city level) and regional approach to air quality management, as well as the importance of considering seasonal factors.

Tsinghua's analysis reveals important details that can inform pollution reduction efforts during different seasons of the year. In the winter, when public heating is at its peak, a 30% reduction in domestic sector emissions has the largest relative impact on PM2.5 concentrations in most cities in Jing-Jin-Ji. The domestic sector includes residential and commercial public heating, cooking, and solvent use, but excludes electricity use. 95% of public heating in Hebei comes from coal, whereas Beijing and Tianjin have gradually replaced coal heating with natural gas.⁵² A 30% reduction in industrial sector emissions has an impact on winter PM2.5 concentrations only slightly smaller than that of the domestic (mainly heating) sector. In the summer, a 30% reduction in industrial emissions has by far the largest impact on ambient air quality across all cities in Jing-Jin-Ji.

In the winter and summer, agricultural sector emissions reductions had the third largest impact on air quality, with the exception of the large cities of Beijing and Tianjin, where emissions cuts from transportation had the third

^{*} Industry includes industrial processes (steel, non-ferrous metals, building materials, coking, petroleum refinery, chemical synthesis, crude/gasoline/diesel distribution, fossil fuel exploitation, black carbon production, fine chemical industry, food production, pharmaceuticals industry, and other industrial processes); industrial combustion (combustion process for providing industrial hot water or hot gas); and industrial solvent use (painting, printing, adhesive, wood protection, and degreasing). Electric power includes coal-fired, oil-fired, gas-fired, nuclear, and hydroelectric, wind, solar power plants, as well as biomass, and tide power. Buildings includes emissions from combustion process for providing dimestic heating), household appliances, and electric appliances in commercial buildings; from waste water and solid waste treatment and utilization, smoking, and cooking; and solvent use (wood coating, application of pesticides, personal care, and drying cleaning). Agriculture includes emissions from on-road transportation (diesel, gasoline, CNG, LPG, electric, hybrid power trucks, buses, cars, and motorcycles) and off-road emissions (tractors, construction machines, railway transportations, and inland waterwavs)

^{**} The Paulson Institute and Tsinghua used a 30% reduction to visually demonstrate the impact of a reasonable reduction in primary emissions across industries based on China's goals set forth in the 2013 Air Pollution Prevention and Control Action Plan.



largest impact in the summertime. Power sector emissions reductions had the smallest impact on ambient air quality in both winter and summer. Most thermal power plants in the region have already installed advanced emissions control equipment. ⁵³

One caveat here is to note that this analysis depends upon the accuracy of the emissions inventory used. For example, the low sensitivity of this model's result to transport emissions depends on model assumptions concerning use of vehicle emissions control technologies, and therefore may underestimate actual emissions.⁵⁴

IMPACT OF A 30% EMISSIONS REDUCTION FROM INDUSTRY ON JING-JIN-JI AMBIENT PM2.5 CONCENTRATIONS IN JANUARY



Using sophisticated air quality modeling software, Tsinghua University performed a sensitivity analysis of the relative improvement in air quality that would result from cutting emissions from each sector of the economy. These two maps illustrate the results of this air quality monitoring in January, historically one of the most polluted months of the year. The left-hand chart portrays the base case of ambient PM2.5 concentrations in the Jing-Jin-Ji region, showing that the dirtiest air is clustered around the major cities such as Shijiazhuang in Hebei, Beijing, and Tianjin. Reducing emissions from industry alone produces a modest but significant impact on ambient PM2.5 across the region, as shown by the slightly lighter shades of yellow-orange in the urban areas of the region shown in the right-hand chart. (These reductions are more apparent in the bar charts shown on the following pages.)

Source: Tsinghua University, 2015

The Tsinghua University research also sheds light on the air quality impact of individual industrial sectors, specifically iron and steel, metallurgy, cement, chemicals, and glass. Based on modeling results, the two industrial sectors with the largest potential impact on Jing-Jin-Ji urban air quality are iron and steel, followed by metallurgy. For the heavily industrial cities such as Shijiazhuang, Baoding and Tangshan, cutting iron and steel production emissions by 30% would result in a 3.5% improvement in air quality (all pollutants considered), far larger than the impact of other industrial sectors.

IMPACT OF A 30% CUT IN PRIMARY EMISSIONS ON PM2.5 CONCENTRATION IN JING-JIN-JI CITIES



A sensitivity analysis performed by Tsinghua University evaluated the impact on regional air quality of a 30% cut in emissions from individual sectors—namely industry, domestic (including heating), agriculture, transport and power. The sensitivity analysis employed regional air quality modeling software to evaluate the impact of emissions cuts by sector on air quality in eight cities of the region. In January, cutting emissions from industry and the domestic sector (mainly public heating) resulted in the largest improvement in air quality (as measured by local ambient PM2.5 concentrations in this graph). In July, cutting emissions from industry resulted in the largest improvement in air quality.

Source: Tsinghua University, 2015





IMPACT OF A 30% CUT IN INDUSTRY SECTOR EMISSIONS ON PM2.5 IN JIN-JIN-JI CITIES

These modeling results provide helpful insights for national-level, regional, and municipal-level policymakers in the Jing-Jin-Ji region. First, the results underscore the magnitude of potential air quality improvement from cuts in industrial and public heating emissions. While the general public has the tendency to focus on the most visible source of emissions-namely, passenger cars in the traffic-choked megacities of Beijing and Tianjin-Tsinghua's modeling suggests that cuts to transportation emissions would have a far smaller effect than reducing industrial sector emissions. Adjusting the fuel sources of public heating, such as through conversion of coal-based heating to natural gas or electric heating, could also have a meaningful impact on lowering emissions in the region. While these results do not address the cost-effectiveness of different measures by sector, which is a major policy consideration, we note that other studies have found ample room for costeffective emissions reductions measures in the industrial sector. 55 Potential reductions from various sources should be considered together with the costs of achieving them, with an eye to identifying cost-effective solutions.

Source: Tsinghua University, 2015

Second, based on these results, policymakers should focus on identifying cost-effective opportunities for emissions reductions in the iron and steel and metallurgical sectors, since these would likely produce the largest impact on ambient PM2.5 concentration in Jing-Jin-Ji's most industrial cities such as Shijiazhuang. More broadly, **these results highlight the importance of a long-term economic transition away from high-emissions heavy industry in the Jing-Jin-Ji region.** Decades ago, when the Jing-Jin-Ji region began to industrialize, it made sense from an economic and planning perspective for heavy industry to cluster around the region's largest cities, rail lines and ports. But given the health and economic implications of air pollution in Northern China, and the growing population of the Jing-Jin-Ji region, it now makes sense for policymakers to focus on developing cleaner industries and services in the region while transitioning away from industries geared towards providing the raw materials—steel, cement, glass—that originally powered the nation's urbanization strategy.

3.3 Within each industry, there are major opportunities for emissions reductions and energy efficiency improvements

While some may assume that the only way to reduce industrial emissions is to reduce economic growth, emissions reductions are in fact highly compatible with improved economic performance. Efficiency gains in the industrial sector not only reduce emissions (and the associated macroeconomic costs of pollution); they save companies money by reducing fuel expenditures. Efficiency spending on equipment upgrades can also reduce maintenance activities and extend the useful life of a facility. China's economy is overly dependent on heavy industry and capital investment, so a transition toward services and consumer products has the potential to reduce emissions while diversifying the economy and boosting long-term growth.

As the preceding analysis shows, the steel sector is a logical priority for energy efficiency and emissions policies. China has been the world's largest steel producer for nearly two decades, and as of 2010, steel production was responsible for 27% of primary energy use across the nation's entire manufacturing sector. ⁵⁶

In collaboration with China's Energy Research Institute (ERI) and National Center for Climate Change Strategy and International Cooperation (NCSC), the U.S. firm Energy Innovation modeled how efficiency improvements in China's iron and steel sector would affect national emissions of pollutants such as PM2.5 and CO_2 .* Their analysis considered the impact of dozens of policy and regulatory scenarios on emissions, including improvements in steelmaking equipment efficiency, fuel-switching away from coal, early retirements of old or inefficient plants, waste-heat recovery in certain plants, and remediation of system efficiency bottlenecks at certain facilities.

Energy Innovation's analysis also considered the impact of reduced overall demand for basic industrial products on steel sector emissions, reflective of China's stated goal of transitioning away from investment-led growth towards a consumer-led economy.

While some may assume that the only way to reduce industrial emissions is to reduce economic growth, in fact emissions reductions are highly compatible with improved economic performance.

^{*} For the complete model results across sectors, please see http://china.energypolicy.solutions/



From among these many simulations, we highlight four specific scenarios here: a business-as-usual case (case 1), a case with lower iron and steel end-use demand (case 2), and two cases that show the effect of medium (case 3) and high (case 4) efficiency improvements in industrial equipment versus case 2.

Compared to the business-as-usual (BAU) case, which already includes some efficiency improvements and reduced future demand for iron and steel products, efficiency improvements in the iron and steel sector have a profound impact on both PM2.5 and CO_2 emissions reductions. For CO_2 , the most advanced efficiency measures, when combined with lower iron and steel demand, reduce 2030 emissions by 41% compared to the BAU case. Most of these reductions—over two-thirds—came from energy efficiency measures.



CO₂ EMISSIONS REDUCTION POTENTAL OF IRON AND STEEL SECTOR THROUGH 2030

As of 2013, the iron and steel sector emitted over 1.5 billion metric tons of CO_2 annually. Government economic plans suggest a gradual leveling off and then decline in China's iron and steel demand, which will itself cut the sector's PM2.5 emissions to around 1.35 billion metric tons annually. Additional production cuts could reduce this to around 1.15 billion metric tons. Energy efficiency measures that the government believes are reasonably feasible and economic could cut the sector's emissions by a further 400 million metric tons. The overall conclusion is that efficiency improvements can have a substantial impact on the sector's emissions.



PM2.5 EMISSIONS REDUCTION POTENTAL OF IRON AND STEEL SECTOR THROUGH 2030

As of 2013, the iron and steel sector emitted over 750,000 metric tons of PM2.5 annually. Government economic plans suggest a gradual leveling off and then decline in China's iron and steel demand, which will itself cut the sector's PM2.5 emissions to around 500,000 tons annually. Additional production cuts could reduce emissions to around 430,000 tons. Energy efficiency measures that the government believes are reasonably feasible and economic could cut the sector's emissions by a further 230,000 tons. The overall conclusion is that efficiency improvements can have a very substantial impact on the sector's emissions.

Source: Energy Innovation, National Center for Climate Change Strategy and International Cooperation, and Energy Research Institute, 2015

For PM2.5, the effect is even more significant, with efficiency gains and demand reduction combining to produce a 59% reduction in steel sector emissions. Factoring out the impact of reduced demand for iron and steel, efficiency gains and fuel-switching in the steel sector result in a 31% reduction in CO_2 emissions and a 52% reduction in PM2.5 emissions, as compared to the BAU case. In terms of China's total annual emissions of CO_2 and PM2.5, these represent cuts of 3% and 9%, respectively, versus the BAU case—just from the steel sector alone.

Steel sector upgrades are poised to have a particularly beneficial impact on air quality in China's Jing-Jin-Ji region given the region's heavy dependence on this sector. Efficiency improvements from energy-saving technologies and optimization in steel manufacturing, in many cases mandated by Factoring out the impact of reduced demand for iron and steel, efficiency gains and fuel-switching in the steel sector result in a 31% reduction in CO_2 emissions and a 52% reduction in PM2.5 emissions.

China has become a global leader in renewable energy development.

government-instituted programs, have already resulted in a reduction in energy consumption nationwide since the 1990s. ⁵⁷ While energy efficiency in the iron and steel sector increased by 60% between 1994 and 2003, based on a 2012 analysis of 50 enterprises in the steel industry, there are still huge opportunities for efficiency upgrades. ⁵⁸ Policies that promote additional technology upgrades and energy efficiency improvements—such as waste heat recovery, greater automation of production and monitoring, and preventive maintenance—are just a few ways that China can improve processes and reduce carbon emissions from the sector. ⁵⁹

China also has the opportunity to build upon the policies and programs of the 11th and 12th Five-Year Plans—such as the NDRC's Top-1,000 and Top-10,000 Enterprises Energy Efficiency Programs—to continue improving energy efficiency in steel manufacturing. ⁶⁰ Automation will play a major role in achieving these improvements. Studies predict that between 2014 and 2018, China will have invested RMB 900 billion in automation solutions across manufacturing, equivalent to a doubling of China's factory automation market within a three- to four-year time frame. ⁶¹

3.4 New and emerging clean energy industries are driving sustainable economic growth

As demonstrated above, upgrading industrial capacity to cleaner and more automated processes is an essential part of transitioning to a clean and prosperous economy. In addition to industrial efficiency improvements, emerging industries are increasingly contributing to China's growth, leading to a virtuous cycle: Efforts to enforce environmental policies and encourage cleaner industry can reduce emissions and help diversify the local economic base, in turn encouraging more clean industries and services to move to the region. These emerging industries include both renewable energy and energy efficiency, both discussed in greater detail below. Trends in these sectors will help gradually reduce emissions and transition towards a cleaner economy that can support greater growth.

China has become a global leader in renewable energy development: renewable energy development. Through policy, projects, and infrastructure investment, the nation has made impressive strides to reduce dependence on fossil fuels and build an expansive, clean and low-carbon energy system. Numbers speak volumes. In 2014, China ranked first for total installed renewable energy capacity in the world, with the highest global installed capacities for hydroelectricity, wind, solar thermal, and geothermal. ⁶² For solar PV, China ranked second in 2014 after Germany. ⁶³

China's renewable energy policies and impressive installation rates have driven this growth. The National Energy Administration's August 2012 12th Five-Year Plan on Renewable Energy established aggressive targets for annual renewable energy utilization, requiring China's installed capacity for hydro, grid-connected wind, and solar to reach 290 GW, 100 GW, and 21 GW respectively by 2015. ⁶⁴ NDRC's November 2014 National Plan on Climate Change (2014-2020) set even more aggressive goals, raising installed capacity targets for wind and solar power to 200 GW and 100 GW by 2020. ⁶⁵

To achieve these targets, China is investing along the entire renewable energy value chain, creating jobs in R&D, manufacturing, operation, and maintenance. This growth, and the resulting opportunities for investors, have been recognized by international markets: for example, Ernst & Young's (EY) September 2014 Renewable Energy Country Attractiveness Index ranked China the number one country for renewable energy investment and deployment attractiveness based on a range of factors including natural resource availability, financing, grid connectivity, and political support. ⁶⁶ Similarly, analysis firm Clean Edge noted in 2014 that China has jumped into first place among countries installing solar and wind capacity, and remains a leading investor across all clean energy technologies. ⁶⁷

In addition to policy support from government, increasingly low costs associated with renewable energy development also support China's clean energy development and corresponding green job growth. China has been a major contributor to falling solar prices, from both a domestic and global perspective, due to the sheer scale of its renewable energy manufacturing scale-up and deployment. ⁶⁸



TOTAL INSTALLED CAPACITY IN GW FOR RENEWABLE POWER, BY COUNTRY, AS OF YEAR-END 2014

As of 2014, China had more hydropower and wind capacity than any other country and ranked second in solar PV capacity.

Source: Renewables 2015 Global Status Report; China wind capacity adjusted to show only year-end grid-connected capacity.

The International Renewable Energy Agency predicts that the portion of renewable energy in global energy utilization could double by 2030, creating more than 16 million direct and indirect jobs. These industry shifts do not come without a cost. Automation and closure of outdated capacity will lead to some job losses for industrial workers in Hebei and elsewhere in China. While newer industry may never supplant all these jobs, clean energy industries do have ample job-creation potential. According to a 2010 study by the Institute for Urban and Environmental Studies (IUE) and the China Academy of Social Sciences (CASS), green growth policies such as investment in renewable energy technology and energy efficiency technologies would directly or indirectly create 30 million jobs.* While closure of small coal plants would cost 800,000 jobs, the CASS study estimated that by 2020 over 1 million jobs would be created in emissions control and higher-efficiency coal combustion plants and suppliers, and over 4 million jobs in renewable energy. ⁶⁹ Similarly, a 2015 Natural Resources Defense Council study of China's policies to cap coal consumption suggested that such policies would result in substantial net job creation. ⁷⁰

International experience supports these predictions, and indicates that renewable energy development and energy efficiency investments have consistently had a positive impact on employment and overall economic growth. This is because as the cost of renewable energy declines and clean energy becomes more competitive, demand for clean and efficient energy products increases, with a corresponding increase in job opportunities across installation, operations, and maintenance. ⁷¹ The International Renewable Energy Agency predicts that the portion of renewable energy in global energy utilization could double by 2030, creating more than 16 million direct and indirect jobs. ⁷² While these employment studies are not definitive, they suggest a positive relationship between economic transition and job growth, and they also demonstrate the potential benefits of a transition toward emerging clean energy industry development. However, the corresponding decline in heavy industry jobs also points to the potential need for transition assistance and job training support in those communities with the highest job losses.

In addition to accelerating job growth, clean energy development will support China's economic transition. The Rocky Mountain Institute's (RMI) "Reinventing Fire: China" study illustrates the role of renewable energy and energy efficiency

OVERALL: 9 MILLION DIRECT AND INDIRECT JOBS BY 2020				
	Direct Employment	Indirect Employment	Total	
Thermal Power	251,000	29,000	279,000	
Wind Power	848,000	2,309,000	3,157,000	
Solar Power	50,000	1,237,000	1,287,000	

IMPACT OF LOW-CARBON DEVELOPMENT ON CHINA'S POWER SECTOR JOBS (2005-2020)

Source: China Academy of Social Sciences

Jobs in wind and solar are growing the fastest as China expands renewable energy to satisfy energy needs. Jobs created in the wind sector will likely be twice that of those created in solar.

* Gross job additions.

in decoupling growth from energy-intensive processes.⁷³ According to the study, China can achieve independence from fossil fuels while employing efficiencies and cleaner fuels across the industry, buildings, transportation and electricity sectors—in part through such measures as ultra-light vehicle materials, integrative design of industrial and residential facilities and buildings, and higher penetration of wind and solar backed by small amount of energy storage.⁷⁴

While new job creation does not necessarily benefit the workers who may be at risk from job losses in older sectors, the employment effect is likely positive at the regional and national level. At the local level, special retraining or relocation policies will likely be needed to address short-term dislocations. It is also important to note that many job losses in high-emissions heavy industries are related to automation and closure of outdated capacity, with environmental policies as a secondary or tertiary factor. Thus, the Jing-Jin-Ji region does not face a choice between "jobs and the environment," but rather a longer-term transition involving upgrading and diversifying the regional economy.

Increased renewable energy production and deployment has the potential to play an important role in transitioning the Jing-Jin-Ji region into a low-carbon, advanced economic hub. While China is a world leader in manufacturing and deploying renewable energy, growth has been slower in Jing-Jin-Ji. Nevertheless, several cities are beginning to recognize the value of clean energy and are diversifying their economies in this direction.

Given that Hebei has high local demand, excellent wind and solar resources, and good transmission connection to neighboring regions, the province can benefit both economically and environmentally from greater investment in wind and solar. Hebei already has substantial renewable energy capacity, but renewable energy accounts for a small share of the province's consumption. The region's present energy picture is one of heavy reliance on fossil fuels. Coal-

HEBEI RENEWABLE ENERGY INSTALLED CAPACITY IN RELATION TO OTHER PROVINCES (AS OF 2014 YEAR END)



Hebei ranks sixth in terms of installed solar PV capacity and third in terms of wind capacity.

Source: Paulson Institute, based on NEA data, 2015



fired power provides over 90% of the province's energy, and coal is virtually the sole fuel for Hebei's coal, glass and metallurgy industries. Renewable energy, ⁷⁵ on the other hand, represents a very small portion of Hebei's energy mix. Most of the province's wind capacity is located in the wind-rich regions of Chengde and Zhangjiakou. As of September 2015, Hebei has 9 GW of wind installed, out of a national total of over 105 GW as of mid-2015. ⁷⁶ Similarly, while Hebei's solar potential is comparable to that of Central Spain, ⁷⁷ and the province benefits from relatively high national feed-in tariffs for solar energy, most of China's large solar plants are elsewhere in relatively remote and sparsely populated provinces such as Xinjiang, Qinghai and Gansu. ⁷⁸ While Hebei ranks sixth in terms of provincial installed solar capacity as of Spring 2015, Hebei accounted for just 4.6% of all solar PV installed in China. ⁷⁹ For 2015, China's National Energy Administration set a target for Hebei to achieve 1 GW of new solar installations, which if achieved would make Hebei one of the most important provincial markets for solar.⁸⁰

As the Jing-Jin-Ji region boosts investment in clean energy to achieve its air quality goals, distributed solar development is one example of how the energy system is beginning to transform from a centralized model dependent upon coal plants to a distributed model based on user-sited energy. For example, distributed PV can help the Jing-Jin-Ji region meet flexibility demands and improve grid stability.

Despite central government policies to promote distributed energy (including rooftop solar), China's largest provinces are lagging behind in deployment—even though China's urbanized coastal provinces have relatively rich sunlight resources

Handan Textile Rooftop Solar Project



Location: Handan, Hebei Construction date: 2014-2015 Output (capacity): 1.5 MW Technology employed: Solar photovoltaic (PV) panels, inverters and related power controllers

Economics: Estimated 15-20% return on investment to date

Handan textile invested in rooftop solar to save money and support local employment. The solar panels (pictured here) produce approximately 7-8% of the facility's electricity demand. On a sunny summer afternoon, solar may provide up to one third of the 280-employee yarn and fabric-making plant's electricity. compared to other leading solar countries such as Germany or the U.K. Analysts have cited a number of barriers to explain the slow expansion of distributed solar, including a slow approval process, difficulty processing subsidies and payments for solar power injected into the grid, and even air pollution itself.⁸¹

As the economics of distributed solar improve, these barriers are gradually being overcome. In Handan, Hebei Province, a city known for its coal and steel industry and heavy air pollution, Handan Textile decided to take the leap and invest in rooftop solar. Unlike many examples of distributed solar, this was not a government-led demonstration, but rather a business decision on the part of the company based on considerations of real cash returns. Government policies were a factor in the investment decision, including the RMB 0.42/kWh distributed solar subsidy from the central government. Following a feasibility report and on-site testing of different solar PV panels manufactured in Hebei and Zhejiang, the company decided to proceed with a full-scale installation in 2014. "This was a company-led initiative," a member of the company's senior management told our researchers.⁸²

The results are promising: Whereas the company's independent feasibility report suggested the project would earn cash returns of 16%, the firm's management believes so far they have netted over 20%, on the basis of higher-than-expected solar generation and frequent maintenance to remove dust.

The Handan Textile case is an example of how government policies—when combined with technology diffusion through learning-by-doing, knowledge spillovers, and effective marketing—can support the growth of clean industry.

The built environment is a sector where China is seeing some of the greatest growth in technology development and adoption, innovation, and job gains.

China Academy of Building Research Near-Zero Energy Building



Location: Beijing Construction date: 2014 Floor area: 4,025 square meters Technologies employed: Solar energy (both photovoltaic and solar thermal for heating and cooling), solatubes and day-lighting, triple-pane low-E glass, LED lighting, radiant heating and cooling, ground-source heat pumps.

Economics: At RMB 4,000/m², the building is 15% more expensive versus conventional alternatives, and has an economic payback of 5-8 years.

The China Academy of Building Research's Near-Zero Energy Building in Beijing (pictured here) has an energy use profile that is 75% lower than a typical Beijing office building employing conventional practices.

To be sure, several barriers to distributed solar in Hebei remain. At the moment, distributed solar PV costs are still too high to compete without government subsidies, unlike in other world regions where solar has reached parity with enduser power prices. This is partly due to relatively low electricity prices in China, especially in some areas where industrial energy use may be partly subsidized to attract industry.

3.4.1 China is gaining experience and knowhow in green building technology

The building sector consumes a third of China's primary energy (though this figure includes industrial buildings), and total energy consumption—and therefore resulting carbon emissions—is rising as the nation's building floor area expands at the rate of 2 billion square meters a year. ⁸³ Building energy efficiency has become one of China's highest priorities for energy savings and emissions reductions. The built environment is a sector where China is seeing some of the greatest growth in technology development and adoption, innovation, and job gains.

Energy efficient technologies, materials, and integrated design can all reduce the energy consumption of buildings. Nevertheless, until building developers see that energy efficiency has real monetary value, emissions from the built environment will likely continue to rise. Today, developers, investors, and owners often argue they have no real incentive to prioritize low-energy, sustainable buildings. Furthermore, barriers such as challenges in diffusing technology knowhow and difficulty in demonstrating user appeal of new technologies hinder wide scale implementation of energy efficiency practices.

The China Academy of Building Research (CABR)'s Near-Zero Energy Building in Beijing illustrates how government demonstration projects can help address these barriers in two respects: First, the building demonstrates a large number of advanced energy-saving technologies and materials, specifically selected for their cost-effectiveness and applicability to China, particularly for the climate conditions and usage patterns of a low-rise Beijing office building. Second, by working collaboratively with a large number of stakeholders, including developers, technology suppliers, and international partners such as the U.S.-China Clean Energy Research Council, CABR is enabling others within the supply chain to learn about cost-effective energy efficient materials and equipment. This includes technology transfer from international technology suppliers and research institutions as well as providing educational and practical learning-by-doing through working with Chinese suppliers, designers, and developers.

In total, the CABR building employs 28 emerging or already commercial energy efficient building technologies. The building's energy use profile over its first full year of operations was 25 kWh per square meter, 75% lower than a typical Beijing office building employing conventional practices. These savings are closely linked to the building's integrated design, which is based upon three central principles: prioritizing passive building elements, optimizing active energy-use elements, and utilizing cost-effective technologies and practices. Design elements are meant to achieve several targets: eliminating the use of

By working collaboratively with a large number of stakeholders, CABR is enabling others within the supply chain to learn about cost-effective energy efficient materials and equipment. public heating in the winter, cutting lighting energy use by 75% as compared to a similar, typical building in Beijing, and reducing summer air conditioning energy use by 50%.

Because the building's purpose is to demonstrate technologies that are ready to be scaled up in China, cost-effectiveness was a major criterion. The design target was to achieve a total building cost per unit of floor area no greater than 15% higher than that of conventional building practices. CABR termed its technology selection and design process as "bold but effective": the completed building is estimated to have cost RMB 4,000/square meter, with energy and operational cost savings that will enable a payback period of 5-8 years for premium equipment and materials.

The need for energy efficient window products in advanced, energy efficient buildings like CABR's is creating a demand pull for upgrades in the glass manufacturing sector, including in Hebei. For example, the windows at CABR are triple-paned, low-e insulated glass units, manufactured in Hebei at Orient Sundar Window Group in Baoding. Sundar has grown from a small firm of just a dozen employees producing hand-made glass products to a glass company with over 3,000 employees specialized in energy-efficient glass products. Sundar now supplies energy efficient window and door products to several of China's largest property development firms, such as Vanke and Poly Group, as well as to several passive house projects in Europe and the U.S.

While solar hot water heating is already widely commercialized for buildings in China, and rooftop solar photovoltaic panels are commercial and potentially at the cusp of widespread deployment, few building market players are familiar with solar thermal heating-and-cooling. The CABR Near-Zero Energy Building takes advantage of this technology by employing a set of low-concentrating panels mounted in a near-flat orientation on the building's rooftop, which generates approximately 13,000 kWh of thermal energy per summer for heating or cooling water. The building also employs radiant cooling units mounted in the ceilings, and radiant heating located beneath the floors for winter. Advanced equipment enables building managers to monitor occupancy, ventilation rates, temperature set points, and window openings to maximize energy savings while ensuring thermal comfort and proper humidity levels.

Solar thermal heating-and-cooling is an example of a nascent technology with scale-up potential—with real implications for employment in places like Hebei. The supplier of CABR's solar thermal heating-and-cooling panels, Linuo Ritter International, is located in Shandong Province where it currently employs around 1,000 workers, including hundreds of employees in marketing, manufacturing and supply chain management.

Overall, building energy efficiency is a way for building owners and tenants to save money, with ripple effects through the entire building products and services supply chain. As developers and suppliers gain knowhow and experience successfully deploying these technologies, the result is not only lower energy consumption per unit of economic output, but also technology innovation that can lead to exports outside the region, driving competitiveness of buildings-sector materials and services for sustainable economic growth. Solar thermal heatingand-cooling is an example of a nascent technology with scaleup potential—with real implications for employment in places like Hebei.

4. LESSONS FOR JING-JIN-JI FROM U.S. ECONOMIC TRANSITION CASES

China's situation is unique, as are the challenges the country faces, but the country's leaders and scholars also recognize that China can benefit from studying examples of regions and cities that have reduced emissions and undergone transitions away from manufacturing and fixed-asset investment. A select number of U.S. regions and cities—Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania; Toledo and Cleveland, Ohio; and the state of California—provide potential lessons and examples for leaders of cities in the Jing-Jin-Ji region. In some cases, like California, the lessons are largely positive: cities can clean the environment while continuing to grow. In other cases, like the U.S. Rust Belt—an area of the U.S. Northeast that experienced job losses and de-industrialization from the 1950s to the 1980s—there are also lessons on what to avoid.

- The U.S. Rust Belt city of **Pittsburgh** fell into decline due to the collapse of the steel industry in the 1970s. Today, Pittsburgh is often cited as a success case of economic recovery, showing how a vibrant city with strong local institutions can reinvent itself as a hub for services and innovation. Pittsburgh's economic recovery over the past two decades is intimately tied to the city's educational institutions—and particularly with targeted R&D spending in computer science and health care—as well as to supportive, collaborative policies from the local government and philanthropic institutions. The Pittsburgh case illustrates the importance of economic diversity, tech cluster strategies and willingness to adjust to the departure of former anchor industries.
- The state of **Ohio**, also located in the U.S. Rust Belt, shows how industry upgrading and policies around renewable energy can spur investment and job creation in clean energy. In particular, Ohio's expertise in glass manufacturing played a critical role in developing a local solar cluster. As in the case of Pittsburgh, the state's educational institutions played an anchoring role. While the U.S. Midwest's manufacturing recovery will never replace all the jobs lost due to de-industrialization, promoting clean energy can still be good for growth.
- The case of **California** illustrates how forward-leaning environmental and energy policies fostered the growth of clean energy industries, innovation and jobs. California's case also highlights the enormous potential of the private sector to invest in clean energy technology, under the right conditions. In California, those conditions included not only environmental policy, but a diverse industry structure as well as resources for job training and research and development. Above all, the California case shows how the state benefitted from taking the lead on environmental policy, and not waiting for other places to demonstrate feasibility first.*

The case of California illustrates how forwardleaning environmental and energy policies fostered the growth of clean energy industries, innovation and jobs.

^{*} The Paulson Institute, which is headquartered in Chicago, has links to leaders and experts throughout the U.S., including in the regions described in this report. In preparing this paper, we drew on insights from a number of experts. Additional interviews and findings are available on the website of this report at bit.ly/ChinasNextOpportunity.

Economic Transition Case Studies from the U.S.



 State of California Population: 39 million (versus 20 million in 1970) Population state rank: 1st GDP: US\$ 2.2 trillion (13% of U.S.) GDP per capita: US\$ 39,000 Key insights for Jing-Jin-Ji Economic and environmental prosperity can go together Integrated energy and environmental policy important Policy leadership and mandates can lead to innovation 	 Pittsburgh metro area Population: 2.4 million (versus 2.8 million in 1970) Population metro rank: 22nd GDP: US\$ 113 billion GDP per capita: US\$ 47,000 Key insights for Jing-Jin-Ji R&D spending decisions at top-ranked universities can catalyze economic transitions Public-private collaboration among a small cohort of individuals can help coordinate creation of new industries
 Cleveland metro area Population: 2.1 million (versus 2.3 million in 1970) Population metro rank: 29th GDP: US\$ 134 billion GDP per capita: US\$ 26,000 Key insights for Jing-Jin-Ji Educational institutions can play a central role in transformation, fostering clusters of industry and human capital Key is for institutions to act as neutral "host" for companies and entrepreneurs 	 Toledo metro area Population: 650,000 (versus 644,000 in 1970) Population metro rank: 81st GDP: US\$ 24 billion GDP per capita: US\$ 37,000 Key insights for Jing-Jin-Ji Existing industrial expertise can help catalyze more advanced, cleaner industry Top-ranked educational institutions can play a role in both training and innovation to power new local cleantech industries

Pittsburgh Case Findings:

Problems: High unemployment due to severe downturn in steel manufacturing in the 1970s. Severe air and water pollution.

Solutions: Focused R&D spending at the city's major research universities helped create new industrial clusters in computer science, robotics and health care. Public-private collaboration helped city leaders strategically promote new industrial clusters. Legislation at the state and federal level pushed the region to clean up its air.

Results: Service and knowledgeeconomy industries have made major contributions to reducing Pittsburgh's unemployment and attracting new industries. Cleaner air has contributed to the city's success in changing its image and attracting companies.

4.1 **Pittsburgh: Targeted R&D spending and public-private collaboration**

Just as Hebei is known throughout the world as a center for steel manufacturing today, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania was a global steel powerhouse just half a century ago. The city stands at the intersection of several smaller rivers that flow into the major Mississippi and Ohio Rivers, as well as the Great Lakes. Pittsburgh is separated from the East Coast and Atlantic Ocean by the Appalachian mountain range but is open to the west. In the days when rivers were the main transportation corridors for goods, this locational advantage meant that Pittsburgh was perfectly situated during the 19th and early 20th centuries to become an industrial and manufacturing hub for the central and western U.S. ⁸⁴ Along with industrialization came pollution: one 1800s writer called the city "hell with the lid off." ⁸⁵

Pittsburgh's rise to industrial strength was bolstered in the early 20th century with the discovery of a coal seam running through the region, which provided inexpensive fuel for its industrial processes. The corresponding growth of the railroad industry dramatically increased the U.S. market for steel, and Pittsburgh became the steel capital of the country, producing more than 60% of the nation's steel by 1910. ⁸⁶ Other industries followed—especially heavy industries also dependent on coal, but including consumer companies like the Heinz Corporation—and by 1970 the city was the third-largest corporate headquarter city in the nation. ⁸⁷

As with other Rust Belt cities, however, Pittsburgh's fortunes started to decline in the latter half of the 20th century, as global competition brought steel prices down. The environmental impact of burning coal to produce steel also helped to turn the American public against the steel industry. Pittsburgh is famous for

CHANGES IN EMPLOYMENT SHARE BY SECTOR IN PITTSBURGH (1990-2014)



While jobs in manufacturing declined, Pittsburgh saw a growth in health and education, and business services jobs.
having such terrible air pollution in the mid-1900s that streetlights had to be turned on during the day so that citizens could see through the industrial fog.⁸⁸ In 1948, in the small town of Donora on Pittsburgh's outskirts, a particularly thick smog incident killed 20 people and sickened half the town's residents, ultimately leading state leaders to adopt clean air regulations.⁸⁹ These economic and environmental realities meant Pittsburgh had to turn to other industries—specifically computer science, robotics and health care—for economic growth in the 21st century.⁹⁰

Pittsburgh has done just this, turning around its economy so dramatically that it has become the model for other Rust Belt cities and for industrial cities around the world. Between 1990 and 2013, the greater Pittsburgh metropolitan area gained nearly 118,000 jobs, and its workforce is now so diversified that only 7.7% are employed in the manufacturing sector (down from 12.6% in 1990). ⁹¹ In contrast, well over one-fourth of Pittsburgh's workforce is employed in education, health, and business services—often known as the knowledge-based sector of the economy.

In Pittsburgh, it was the suddenness of the steel sector collapse that created the political space to enable restructuring. Pittsburgh got started earlier than Detroit or other cities because the steel sector collapsed earlier and more thoroughly, whereas in Detroit leaders lacked the political will to pivot away from their strength in auto manufacturing.

– Jim Russell, Research Fellow, Center for Population Dynamics at Cleveland State University

Pittsburgh has also become a leader in environmentally sustainable economic activities such as green buildings. For example, the city has been innovative in turning formerly toxic industrial sites, known as "brownfields," into building sites for new green buildings including a gold LEED-certified convention center. ⁹² The city has encouraged this development through policies such as a "density bonus"—a rule that allows developers of energy efficient buildings to build 20% higher than the limit that applies to conventional buildings. ⁹³ The state of Pennsylvania also actively pursued renewable energy industries over the past several decades, building on its strong manufacturing workforce and geographic advantages to bring in Spanish global wind turbine producers Gamesa and Iberdrola. ⁹⁴

What is the key to this success? A recent report from Cleveland State University and the group CEOs for Cities, *From Metals to Minds: Economic Restructuring in the Rust Belt*, argues that Pittsburgh used its strong educational institutions to anchor its new economic development. ⁹⁵ The authors use the metaphor of the "host at the party," where the universities are the host, greeting new business entrants and introducing them to others in research, development, and technology deployment as well as the education and service industries. This approach stands in contrast to a "life of the party" strategy, where a university might try to become the gatekeeper for all





research and development, monitoring access to the local economy in favor of its own partner corporations. ⁹⁶

Anchoring role of educational institutions: In Pittsburgh, one "host of the party" is Carnegie Mellon University (CMU), which had an early computer science program that developed throughout the 1980s into a destination for students and business leaders hoping to learn how to do technology transfer between private industry and the government. That reputation brought world-class researchers and students, which in turn brought companies wanting to locate near that talent. ⁹⁷ Today, Pittsburgh's network of businesses includes Google, Apple, Microsoft, Intel, Oracle, and Yahoo, among many others. Another "host of the party" is the University of Pittsburgh, or Pitt, which is a leader in life sciences research. With over 55,000 employees, the University of Pittsburgh Medical Center has acted as an economic anchor and seed for future growth. ⁹⁸

With these two institutions as cornerstones, in the 1980s and 1990s Pittsburgh focused on establishing itself as a high-tech biomedical cluster. Today, Pittsburgh's hospitals and medical centers together employ more people than the steel industry did at its height. ⁹⁹ The result has been that Pittsburgh has seen rising incomes despite falling population—the city is now ranked 6th in per capita income among the top 51 U.S. metro areas. ¹⁰⁰

Public-private collaboration was a key ingredient in the city's success story. Pittsburgh's government worked with the private sector to transform urban areas into areas for new technology. Pittsburgh refurbished an old



Relics of the Past: The Carrie Furnace is a former blast furnace located near Pittsburgh. At its peak, it produced 1000 to 1250 tons of iron per day, and it now serves as a historical site open for tours.

Expert Voices: Rust Belt

To what extent would Pittsburgh's revitalization not have happened without a cleaner and more attractive environment?

Karen Clay: Pittsburgh's revitalization absolutely could not have happened without the cleanup. Even with the cleanup, Pittsburgh still has mild air quality issues because of geography, but its air quality continues to improve as coal plants shut down in favor of natural gas. Water quality continues to improve as well. And there has been substantial investment in amenities like riverside parks and biking trails.

Jim Russell: The immediate impact of sustainability and environmental quality on the economy relates to health and worker productivity. That said, the larger benefit of cleaning up the environment is that the narrative of a place changes, and that underpins economic changes. If residents or outsiders see a dirty city, they see a hopeless city. If you can change the psychology of the city so that the residents feel it is worth defending and changing, that is valuable.

What mistakes did city leaders make over the years in revitalizing Rust Belt cities?

Sabina Deitrick: I would point to the overall slowness of some of the revitalization strategies. This slowness was due to political leaders wanting to protect jobs in older industries. In Pittsburgh, top economists reported in the 1960s that the city would have to change directions, but the leadership wasn't willing to listen. Steel was the name of the game, even when it was already shrinking. The same was true in Detroit, where leaders tended to view any downturn as merely a part of the auto sector's boom and bust cycle.

Jim Russell: The biggest mistake is an abstract one, namely the idea that there is some sort of local policy that can fix things. This is hubris. City leaders often don't pay attention to the vast macroeconomic forces that are really driving what's going on in their city. Political figures and public-private partnerships often try big capital projects to stop the "brain drain"—the departure of more educated residents—spending the region's tax money on airports, convention centers, light rail, or stadiums. Instead, they should spend money on basic research, pick a technology cluster and establish targets, like Texas went after cancer research and began poaching cancer researchers from other regions. It's a winning restructuring technique.

Aaron Renn: The number one issue that I see is that urban leaders don't handle urban planning and urban issues in a strategic way. Cities like Cleveland, Toledo, Pittsburgh and Chicago are all radically different places, but the solution set that academics or leaders propose is always or often the same.



Aaron Renn Senior Fellow, Manhattan Institute for Policy Research



Jim Russell Research Fellow, Center for Population Dynamics at Cleveland State University



Karen Clay Associate Professor of Economics, Carnegie Melon University



Sabina Deitrick Associate Professor, Graduate School of Public and International Affairs at the University of Pittsburgh



Nabisco factory downtown into an incubator space for tech and healthcare companies called Bakery Square. The project—a LEED certified green building—has been so successful that a second phase is now planned. ¹⁰¹ Because of the city's small size compared to Los Angeles or New York City, a relatively compact core of leaders from government, academia and business were able to come together several times per year to coordinate such activities, evaluate progress, and work towards consensus on what growth strategies to pursue.

Pittsburgh and many other cities of the Midwest have historically **had strong local philanthropic institutions** that contributed to economic transition. In Pittsburgh, the Carnegie Endowment has supported a network of NGOs and private companies to work with government and community leaders to set the direction of economic transition policies, as well as fund groups to retrain workers or coach startups. Civic organizations such as Pittsburgh Community Reinvestment Group (PCRG) have helped link business leaders to officials contributing to regional economic planning.¹⁰²

Economic diversity has also been an element of Pittsburgh's transition. While the city is famous for steel, its manufacturing sector has grown more diverse—with a mixture of firms with different specialties and technologies. As a result, some firms have been able to make the transition to advanced manufacturing. Today, the city is not only a major biomedical cluster, but also the heart of a burgeoning robotics industry. RoboCorridor, a tech zone that includes the CMU Robotics Institute, encompasses a variety of educational institutions and companies. Pittsburgh is home to startups working on robots used for applications ranging from manufacturing cars to assisting sleepy drivers, hauling construction materials inside buildings to detecting bombs. ¹⁰³ Finance and professional services are also major elements of the city's economy today. ¹⁰⁴



Brown to Green: The David L. Lawrence Convention Center in Pittsburgh, built on a former brownfield site, is the nation's first convention center to be a Gold LEED-certified building.

Pittsburgh, a city originally built around extractive and basic manufacturing industries, has managed to diversify into a much more sustainable set of knowledge-based and low-carbon industries. Chinese cities looking to move toward a more sustainable, diversified "new normal" can benefit from the Pittsburgh example in several respects. These include the role of public-private collaboration in city economic planning; the power of local philanthropic and educational institutions in attracting innovative talent; and the importance of targeting new industry clusters through directed investments in R&D. Drawing upon these strengths, Pittsburgh has been able to reinvent itself as a leader in services and innovation.

4.2 Ohio: Renewable energy investment and comprehensive job training programs were key success factors of Ohio's transition

The U.S. state of Ohio has a long history of heavy industry and manufacturing. Ohio is a key part of the "Rust Belt" of Midwestern states mostly bordering the Great Lakes, which together dominated the U.S. manufacturing industry for much of the 20th century. In the 1950s, this region of the country accounted for more than half of all domestic manufacturing jobs, and over 40% of all U.S. jobs. ¹⁰⁵ For Ohio, these jobs were mostly in auto manufacturing, steel, and glass.¹⁰⁶ But the region suffered serious declines in manufacturing over the next few decades, due to several factors, including increased international and domestic competition and the general trend toward automation in the manufacturing sector. Ohio's manufacturing sector also faced pressure throughout the second half of the 20th century because of the environmental harm caused by its heavy industries: a major fire on the waters of Ohio's Cuyahoga River gained national attention and gave rise to protests that eventually led to several major pieces of U.S. environmental policy, including the Clean Water Act, the Clean Air Act, and the creation of the Environmental Protection Agency.¹⁰⁷

For Ohio, the question for the 21st century has been whether to abandon its manufacturing past, or whether to build on the industrial infrastructure and assets the state developed over the past century to promote a new kind of cleaner and more sustainable economic growth. ¹⁰⁸ This is a very similar challenge faced by some Chinese cities today, particularly in the heavily industrialized region of Hebei. While Hebei is still a major steel producer, generating over one-fourth of China's entire steel output, it faces similar pressures to those faced by Ohio in the last century: low steel prices, inefficiencies and overcapacity within the steel sector, and the pressure from policymakers and the public to improve air quality in this heavily polluted region. ¹⁰⁹ Chinese policymakers are also taking a forward-looking approach and working to move the entire country from a manufacturing-based economy toward a "new normal" that rebalances the economy toward more diversified and sustainable growth. For these reasons, Ohio's historic shift away from heavy industry can provide important lessons for Hebei today. In the 1950s, the U.S. Rust Belt region accounted for more than half of all domestic manufacturing jobs, and over 40% of all U.S. jobs.

Toledo Case Findings:

Problems: High unemployment due to severe downturn in auto and glass manufacturing in the 1970s.

Solutions: Focused R&D spending at the University of Toledo in a field related to the city's industrial expertise—solar PV—helped catalyze a new industry and attract firms related to the solar supply chain.

Results: While Toledo still hasn't recovered from its industrial downturn, the city now has a large number of jobs and firms in the solar industry.

Toledo: From windows to solar

Located at the western edge of Lake Erie, and sitting at the intersection of shipping and rail lines, Toledo made a name for itself in the 19th century as a hub of manufacturing. Its particular focus was glass, and the companies Owens Corning and Libbey Glass originated or moved there. The city soon diversified into automobile manufacturing as well. But when the Rust Belt began to lose manufacturing in the later 20th century, Toledo was hit hard, losing thousands of manufacturing jobs, as well as valuable expertise and knowhow. In 2010, when the Toledo Museum of Art built a US\$ 30 million Glass Pavilion, it had to import specialty glass for the pavilion's curved windows from a company based in Shenzhen—no U.S. firm had the technical capability to make the glass, even though the process was originally perfected in Toledo. ¹¹⁰

That said, Toledo's manufacturing infrastructure and skilled workers, combined with the University of Toledo, became the foundation for a new kind of economic growth in the 21st century: growth in solar panel manufacturing and sales. In the late 1970s and 1980s, glass industry experts in Toledo began experimenting with techniques to deposit thin-film solar materials on glass. In 1984, the company First Solar (initially called Glasstech Solar) was founded in Toledo, through a research collaboration with the University of Toledo and with the support of government grants. The company, which makes thin-film solar panels, is now headquartered in Arizona but still employs over 1,000 people at its Toledo manufacturing plant.¹¹¹ The local glass industry knowhow, combined with support from local educational institutions across Ohio, was a critical factor in First Solar's success in mastering manufacturing techniques for the challenging process of depositing the solar material cadmium-telluride on glass substrates.

First Solar is far from the only company engaged in solar research and technology in the Toledo region. Across Ohio, there are 217 solar-related companies that work across the value chain, with most of them concentrated in and around Toledo. According to the Solar Energy Industry Association, Ohio is home to 93 manufacturers, 56 manufacturing facilities, 62 contractor/installers, 14 project developers, 11 distributors and 37 other companies engaged in related solar activities including financing, engineering and legal support. ¹¹²

One important reason for the solar job concentration in this state is Ohio's attention to worker training in solar industries: the University of Toledo now houses a School of Solar and Advanced Renewable Energy, a Center for Photovoltaics Innovation and Commercialization, and the equivalent of an MBA for physics and engineering students who want to learn to start and run solar companies. Owens Community College also offers customized training for solar specialties for both new workers as well as older workers who need retraining. ¹¹³ This continuous feeder network of skilled and trained workers who understand the solar industry across the value chain is critical to Ohio's success in transforming from a last-century glass manufacturer to a thiscentury solar powerhouse.

Another lesson of the Toledo experience relates to public-private collaboration aimed specifically at economic transition. When Toledo's industrial decline began, government officials and other community leaders were focused on retaining the city's largest employers. Only after it became obvious that a transition was needed did government, business and academia band together to create a new strategy. Leaders of these three groups began to meet monthly to share ideas and strategies—and to work together to target new industries like solar. ¹¹⁴

Our biggest contribution as a University has been working with government and business leadership to help frame the thinking around what the community needs to do to diversify the economy. We are trying to answer the question, 'How can we work together to upgrade the workforce and get our leadership connected with innovative economic networks?

– Frank Calzonetti, Professor of Geography, University of Toledo

The future of Ohio's solar industry is somewhat uncertain, however, due to the uneven policy environment for advanced energy industries in the state. When First Solar was founded, the state was putting into place a suite of policies supportive of the renewable energy industry, including a Renewable Energy Standard that required 12.5% of electricity sold by Ohio's electric utilities to be generated from renewable energy sources by 2027 (of this 12.5%, at least 0.5% must come from solar). ¹¹⁵ However, the current governor put the standard on hold in 2014, and the resulting uncertainty about the future market for solar products within the state has hurt the industry. ¹¹⁶ The state is also considering putting energy efficiency standards on hold, which would set back another emerging clean energy industry in Ohio—combined heat and power (CHP) for industrial operations. ¹¹⁷

Lastly, it is important to note that Toledo's new energy economy will likely never support the number of local manufacturing jobs that have been lost since the city's heyday: Automation and international competition mean that even when industry returns to a region like Ohio, the manufacturing job gains are relatively modest. Toledo today is a small metro area of 650,000 people only the 6th largest in Ohio. Partly as a result of its smaller scale, Toledo's economic recovery is far less impressive than those of nearby Pittsburgh and Cleveland, which are both larger in terms of population and boast relatively more cultural, institutional and architectural amenities. These larger cities are a magnet for talent and entrepreneurship throughout the region—even globally.

Nevertheless, Toledo's story is one that can provide hope, and also lessons, for China's industrial regions. First, Toledo underscores the fact that a strong manufacturing infrastructure—including plants and machinery but also a history of skilled workers from research and development through to production—can be the basis for economic transition into newer, more advanced, and cleaner manufacturing activities. Toledo also highlights the importance of a strong and consistent policy environment that creates a market for new emerging energy products.



Cleveland Case Findings:

Problems: High unemployment due to severe downturn in auto manufacturing in the 1970s.

Solutions: Focused R&D spending through the region's research universities and medical institutions, leading to the creation of a regional medical cluster, building upon the strength of institutions that existed prior to the region's manufacturing downturn.

Results: Cleveland has become a leading center of medical services nationally, attracting firms and talented workers from around the region. The medical supply chains clustered around the Cleveland Clinic and Case Western Reserve University have become a major source of jobs, resulting in rising incomes.

Cleveland: Knowledge-based industry

Cleveland, a city to the east of Toledo and also situated on Lake Erie, tells a different kind of economic transition story: a transformation from manufacturing to a new set of more knowledge-based industries including health care and education.

Cleveland was hit especially hard by international manufacturing competition and by the recession in the 1980s and 1990s. Over the past 23 years, the greater Cleveland metropolitan area lost nearly 90,000 manufacturing jobs, almost all in fields related to the automotive industry. ¹¹⁸ For Cleveland, which in 1990 had over 20% of its workers focused in the manufacturing sector (versus 12.6% in the "steel city" of Pittsburgh, another city highlighted in this report, and versus around 9% percent in the U.S. as a whole), this was a significant blow to the regional economy. In fact, experts have pointed to Cleveland as a city that was so overly focused on manufacturing in the late 20th century that it has been particularly slow to recover and shift to new industries and economic growth strategies in the first part of the 21st century. ¹¹⁹

However, Cleveland is slowly transforming into a new, more knowledge-based economy, as the recent report from Cleveland State University and the group CEOs for Cities, "From Metals to Minds: Economic Restructuring in the Rust Belt," makes clear. The concentration of two major universities—Case Western Reserve and Cleveland State University—alongside two major hospitals have created a new economic development model focused on health technology.¹²⁰ The city has a highly educated workforce—Cleveland is ranked 10th in the U.S. in terms of the proportion of population with graduate degrees¹²¹—and boasts the 6th most hospital jobs of any city in the country, after the much larger metropolises of Los Angeles, Chicago, Houston, New York, and Boston.

CHANGES IN EMPLOYMENT SHARE BY SECTOR IN CLEVELAND (1990-2014)



While jobs in manufacturing declined, Cleveland saw a growth in health and education, and business services jobs.

As a result of targeted R&D spending and strong existing educational and medical institutions, Cleveland has succeeded in creating a health care cluster similar to the economic high-tech clusters of the Silicon Valley, or biotechnology in the Research Triangle in North Carolina. As the *From Metals to Minds* authors state, discussing the recent move of Phillips Healthcare from San Jose, California to Cleveland, "[The] firm's relocation strategy was about the access to knowledge stemming from Cleveland's anchor institutions, particularly Case Western, Cleveland Clinic, and University Hospital.¹²² " The city's cooperation with a private performing arts center, PlayHouse Square, to invest heavily in the downtown area has also brought younger and more educated workers back into the city center.¹²³

Cleveland, in its move from a heavily manufacturing-based, undiversified economy to one more technology- and service-focused, may serve as a strong model for parts of the Jing-Jin-Ji region that are also searching for a "new normal" in economic planning. The lesson here is one of building the proper foundations for such an economic transformation: just as strong universities and hospitals form the basis of Cleveland's revival, strong education centers and related industrial clusters can anchor any transition in this region of China.

4.3 California: Clean and diversified growth

If it were a country, the U.S. state of California, with a Gross State Product of US\$2.31 trillion, would be the 8th largest economy in the world—just behind Brazil but ahead of India, Canada, and the Russian Federation. ¹²⁴ In 2014, California's economy performed better than the U.S. economy as a whole, increasing jobs by 2.8% (compared to a 1.8% increase nationally), and accounting for over 17% of all new jobs in the U.S. even though the state houses only 12% of the population. ¹²⁵

This impressive economic performance has come at the same time that California has been implementing some of the most far-reaching climate and energy policies in the world. In fact, the state's forward-looking policies have been one key factor in the growth of its clean technology sector, which in turn helped diversify California's economy to make it more robust. For this reason, California is an important example of a government working toward a truly sustainable economic growth model.

The state's oil refining and auto industries help illustrate how environmental regulation has gone hand-in-hand with innovation, without harming industry or prosperity. In the case of the oil sector, which forcefully argued against regulating car exhaust or fuel quality, regulations resulted in development of cleaner fuels such as reformulated gasoline and unleaded gas. ¹²⁶ Studies of refineries in Los Angeles suggest that even though refineries had to pay between US\$ 3-8 million per plant to meet air quality regulations between 1979 and 1992, during the same period their productivity increased sharply compared to similar facilities in the less-regulated U.S. Gulf Coast. ¹²⁷ Similarly, to meet national emissions rules that car companies initially described as unreachable, the auto industry paired with companies like Corning and Johnson Matthey to develop the right combination of ceramics, precious metal catalysts, sensors, and fuel-injection for catalytic converters. ¹²⁸ The

California Case findings:

Problems: Severe pollution in major cities, as well as high impact of climate change on the state's water supply.

Solutions: A series of interrelated policies to adjust the state's energy structure and encourage a shift away from fossil fuels, beginning with policies that reduced vehicle emissions and promoted renewable energy. More recently, interrelated policies have led to emissions trading for carbon dioxide and promotion of energy storage and vehicle electrification.

Results: California has not only become the leader in renewable energy deployment but has shown that aggressive policies to achieve environmental objectives can result in a major economic boost. California's policies have led to technology innovations from catalytic converters and advanced information technologies to aggregate energy storage resources to back up renewable energy generation.





ADVANCED ENERGY EMPLOYMENT IN CALIFORNIA, 2014

Source: California Advanced Energy Employment Survey, 2014

result was breakthrough innovation followed by years of steady improvement in tailpipe emissions control technology and policy. ¹²⁹ All this came at a cost to consumers similar to that initially estimated by regulators, and with no apparent impact on vehicle sales or industry profits—despite increases in R&D to prepare for the changes. ¹³⁰

In 2006, California's legislature passed the Global Warming Solutions Act, which requires the state's regulatory agencies to achieve greenhouse gas emission reductions of about 25%, to bring emissions to 1990 levels. The two most significant elements of the bill, which is also known as Assembly Bill 32 or "AB 32," are (1) the statewide cap and trade program, which sets emission limits and allows emitters to trade permits in order to reach emission goals, and (2) the Low Carbon Fuel Standard, which requires a 10% reduction in the carbon intensiveness of fuels in the state by 2020.¹³¹ These two policies, combined with a statewide Renewable Energy Standard ¹³² that requires 33% of all electricity sold in the state to come from renewable sources (excluding nuclear and big hydropower), and building efficiency standards that have been in place since 1977, ¹³³ work together to make California a major market for innovative low-carbon technologies and services. In September 2015, the state built on the success of these programs by adopting new targets for achieving 50% renewable electricity production by 2030.

Estimating clean energy jobs is notoriously difficult for researchers, since so many jobs include clean energy elements (for instance, an electrician's job might include solar panel installation, but might also include basic wiring), and since the definition of "clean energy" might vary from model to model. However, in 2014, the NGO Advanced Energy Economy (AEE) conducted a survey of businesses and found that California has the most "advanced energy" jobs in the country, with over 430,000 jobs in the renewable energy, energy efficiency, and clean transportation sectors.* Of these, over 300,000 jobs are in the building energy efficiency sector, which is testament to California's strong building codes and standards. ¹³⁴ The report projects job growth across advanced energy sectors of about 17% in 2015, compared to expected job growth across the state economy of only about 1%. ¹³⁵ Another

Expert Voices: California

What factors have led California to be a leader in state level support for clean energy?

Ryan McCarthy: It stems from our history as a leader on regulating air pollution. We have always had some of the worst air pollution in the country, and were the first state to start regulating sources of air pollution. When the federal clean air act was signed in 1970, it gave us a unique authority to set our own standards and work to make sure our air was clean.** We still have some of the worst air quality in the country and we still need to take leading steps to promote clean technologies to comply with federal requirements. This history with air pollution and the natural beauty throughout our state that drives much of our lifestyle has led to diverse support across political and demographic lines for action on clean energy, as well.

To what extent have emissions policies led to investment and innovation?

Adrienne Alvord: We had a veritable flood of investment money pour in when Assembly Bill 32 – the bill that required California to develop regulations to reduce greenhouse gas emissions to 1990 levels by 2020 – passed in 2006. Venture capitalists came to California in droves to invest in clean energy, including biofuels, energy efficiency and solar energy. Our policies also brought a lot of people with interesting energy technology ideas to the state. All of this is because the state of California proved to people that we are serious about reducing emissions.

Ryan McCarthy: All of our regulatory policies work together in tandem. You can imagine addressing the two tasks of cleaning the air and addressing climate change separately, but it makes sense to do them together. For example, we are aligning transportation and climate change policy to make sure each addresses the other. As a result of these policies, there is a tremendous opportunity to stimulate investment in sectors where emissions reductions are needed: transit oriented development, low-carbon transportation, high-speed rail, and natural resources.



^{**} Still today, California has the ability to impose standards on vehicle emissions that are tighter than those of the federal government. Other states can choose to adopt these tighter California standards once California has obtained a waiver from the federal government.



Ryan McCarthy, Science and Technology Policy Advisor, California Air Resources Board



Adrienne Alvord California and Western States Director, Union of Concerned Scientists



indicator of strong clean energy sector performance is that in 2014, California led all U.S. states in clean energy patent filings, with 385 patents filed in this category during the year. ¹³⁶

A testament to the strong clean energy technology market that California has created through policies and regulation is the fact that of the firms surveyed by AEE, 77% reported that their customers are predominantly within California. ¹³⁷ California business leaders echoed the importance of strong policies to create positive conditions for business innovation and growth during a Paulson Institute-led discussion between Silicon Valley entrepreneurs and investors and Chinese mayors from Zhejiang Province. In particular, two leaders of clean technology firms on the panel made the case that they would not have located their firms in California if it had not been for these market-driving policies, particularly in the energy efficiency arena. ¹³⁸

California's clean energy policies are helping to create a more diversified economy for the state, which has suffered in the past due to over-dependence on one set of industries. At the end of the 20th century, the local economy was concentrated in real estate. By 2008, when real estate made up 16% of the state's economy, the housing bubble collapse and subsequent recession hit California particularly hard.¹³⁹ But today, California has expanded its share of what the Brookings Institution calls "advanced industries," including advanced energy. These industries rely on highly-skilled workers and tend to include research and development activities, and they are the anchors for the post-recession economic growth across the U.S. in the past few years.¹⁴⁰ The two major metropolitan regions of California—the San Francisco Bay Area and the greater Los Angeles region—are also home to some of the largest concentrations of these advanced industries in the U.S., and California as a whole has a significant presence in 14 out of the 50 advanced industries Brookings researchers studied.¹⁴¹

California represents a sustainable economy in the broadest definition of sustainability—both environmental and economic. As such, it offers valuable lessons to regions in China hoping to diversify and decarbonize their own economies. In particular, California's strong energy and climate policy framework has provided new and emerging clean energy businesses with a strong market for their products, which has helped to establish this state of 38 million people as one of the top choices for clean energy start-ups in the world.

The lessons for Hebei from California and the American Rust Belt are diverse. In many cases, the differing fates of Pittsburgh, Ohio and California resulted from basic differences in geography, resources and economics. The Paulson Institute believes the following key lessons from the case studies are valuable for Hebei's transition:

• Economic diversification is a key ingredient to economic transition. Overconcentration is risky, especially when it involves concentration of industries with large numbers of workers with lower educational backgrounds. Automation and international competition hit the U.S. Midwest particularly hard, and it took a period of crisis for cities like Cleveland and Pittsburgh to recognize that manufacturing jobs would never recover to prior levels—and they would need to look elsewhere for growth.

- Leading educational institutions and public-private collaboration can help speed transitions. Not all cities have the resources needed to become high-tech clusters. Cities with a legacy of educational institutions, leading companies, and a culture of entrepreneurship are more likely to succeed.Thoughtful and targeted R&D spending decisions by top-ranked educational institutions can be decisive in establishing successful regional clusters—such as solar in Toledo and computer science and health care in Pittsburgh. In both Pittsburgh and Cleveland, regular public-private collaboration helped set local and regional planning strategies that were key to attracting the right talent and workforce to sustain a successful economic transition.
- Policy leadership on energy and the environment can create new economic opportunities for a region. The state of California has experienced rapid growth over the past few years at the same time even as it implemented a series of far-reaching energy and environmental policies. Rather than waiting for technologies like solar, energy storage, or electric vehicles to mature, the state has implemented a series of carefully designed energy and environmental mandates—coordinated with industry to ensure they are achievable, but well in advance of similar policies in other regions. California has also coordinated environmental policy with innovation in new energy, directing funds raised from auctions of emissions allowances to support deployment of solar and electric vehicle charging infrastructure.



Economic and Environmental Harmony: California's environmental regulations boost innovation, and the state has one of the best performing economies in the U.S.



5. CONCLUSIONS

China's Jing-Jin-Ji region has the opportunity to transition in a way that makes sense for both the economy and the environment. The Chinese and U.S. examples above illustrate two important themes: First, that economic and environmental prosperity can go hand in hand, and second, that economic transition in industry is a key element of achieving China's environmental goals. Through studying successful efforts now underway in China, as well as cases of economic transition and environmental improvement in the U.S., China's leaders have the potential to speed the transition of the Jing-Jin-Ji economy towards a cleaner and more prosperous future.

To some extent, China's environmental and energy policies are inseparable from larger economic forces. China has embarked on an ambitious program to clean the air, shift away from coal and other polluting industries, and transform the nation into a high-technology, high-innovation, high-income economy. Industrial transition is also key to achieving the Jing-Jin-Ji region's environmental objectives: As this paper shows, cutting industrial emissions has a larger impact on the region's ambient air quality than policies directed at any other sector. Furthermore, while many might assume that the only way to cut industrial emissions is to simply scale back production, modeling shows that efficiency and productivity improvements within industry could have an immense impact on reducing emissions of both PM2.5 and carbon dioxide.

Not only can old industries clean up, but new industries are rising to serve the needs of China's cleaner economy. China is already pursuing a variety of policies that support clean energy, and some—such as distributed solar and energy-efficient building technologies—are already reaching the Jing-Jin-Ji area. While China is already taking the lead in many areas of clean energy development, there is still much that local leaders can learn from cases of economic and environmental policy transitions in the U.S. The American experience shows how a mixture of energy and environmental policies can promote long-term growth, as well as create new jobs.¹⁴²

China's Jing-Jin-Ji region has the opportunity to transition in a way that makes sense for both the economy and the environment. We are excited to witness these positive developments taking place in Jing-Jin-Ji as governments move forward with their plans and create bright futures for the nation's people.

ABOUT THE AUTHORS

Anders Hove

Anders Hove is Associate Director for China Research at the Paulson Institute. He guides the Institute's research work related to China air quality and climate change, developing insights related to policy, market and technology solutions. He also provides research support for other Institute programs. Hove has more than 15 years of public and private sector experience related to energy policy and markets, including nine years on Wall Street and four years in China. He began his career as an energy policy analyst with the Rand Corporation in Washington, D.C., then performed equity research in the electric utilities and oil services sectors with Deutsche Bank AG and Jefferies and Co. Hove has both a Master of Science and a Bachelor of Science in Political Science from MIT, and he is a Chartered Financial Analyst.

Merisha Enoe

Merisha Enoe is Manager of Research at the Paulson Institute. She develops insights for the Institute's Climate Change and Air Quality Program, producing reports and recommendations for air quality improvement in northern China. Before joining the Paulson Institute, Enoe worked at the China Greentech Initiative, where she led the development and production of *The China Greentech Report* as well as several research projects on topics including shale gas development and the impact of national policies on clean technology adoption. Enoe received her BA in biochemistry and Mandarin Chinese from Middlebury College and her Master's in Environmental Management from Yale University.

Kate Gordon

Kate Gordon is Vice Chair of Climate and Sustainable Urbanization at the Paulson Institute, where she provides overall strategy and coordination for the Institute's climate change, air quality, and sustainable urbanization programs both in the US and China. She is also a Senior Fellow at the Center for American Progress and a regular contributor to the Wall Street Journal as one of the paper's "Energy Experts."

Gordon is a nationally recognized expert on the intersection of clean energy and economic development. Before joining the Paulson Institute, she was Senior Vice President for Climate and Energy at Next Generation, a non-partisan think tank based in San Francisco, where she worked on California policy development as well as large-scale national communications and research projects. While at Next Generation, she helped launch and lead the "Risky Business Project," co-chaired by Michael Bloomberg, Henry Paulson, and Tom Steyer, and focused on the economic risks the U.S. faces from unmitigated climate change.

Earlier in her career Gordon served as Vice President of Energy and Environment at the Washington D.C.-based Center for American Progress, where helped develop and author policy recommendations related to the Congressional cap-and-trade negotiations, Gulf oil spill, and American Reinvestment and Recovery Act implementation. Prior to CAP, Gordon was the Co-Director of the national Apollo Alliance (now part of the Blue Green Alliance). She still serves on the Apollo Alliance board, as well as on the board of Vote Solar.

Gordon earned a law degree and a master's degree in city planning from the University of California-Berkeley, and an undergraduate degree from Wesleyan University.

REFERENCES

1. Elisabeth Rosenthal, "China Increases Lead as Biggest Carbon Dioxide Emitter," New York Times, June 14, 2008, accessed at http://www.nytimes.com/2008/06/14/world/asia/14china.html?_r=0; "Global Greenhouse Gas Emissions Data, 2008 Global CO2 Emissions from Fossil Fuel Combustion and Some Industrial Processes," United States Environmental Protection Agency, accessed on July 29, 2015 at http://www.epa.gov/climatechange/ghgemissions/global.html.

2. "大气污染防治行动计划"[Air Pollution Prevention Action Plan], September 10, 2013, accessed at http://www.gov.cn/zwgk/2013-09/12/ content_2486773.htm.

3. "国家应对气候变化规划 (2014-2020)" [The National Plan on Climate Change (2014-2020)], National Development and Reform Commission, November 2014, accessed at http://www.scio.gov.cn/xwfbh/xwbfbh/wqfbh/2014/20141125/xgzc32142/Document/1387125/1387125_2.htm.

4. "强化应对气候变化行动-中国国家自主贡献" [Strengthen Action on Addressing Climate Change--Intended Nationally Determined Contributions], June 30, 2015, accessed at http://www.gov.cn/xinwen/2015-06/30/ content 2887330.htm.

5. National Bureau of Statistics, accessed on August 20, 2015 at http:// data.stats.gov.cn/search.htm?s=%E6%B2%B3%E5%8C%972014%E5%B9%B 4%E4%BA%A7%E5%80%BC, http://data.stats.gov.cn/search.htm?s=%E5% A4%A9%E6%B4%A52014%E5%B9%B4%E4%BA%A7%E5%80%BC and http:// data.stats.gov.cn/search.htm?s=%E5%8C%97%E4%BA%AC2014%E5%B9% B4%E4%BA%A7%E5%80%BC.

6. "Introducing China's Future Megalopolis: The Jing-Jin-Ji," Wall Street Journal, April 4, 2014, accessed at http://blogs.wsj.com/ chinarealtime/2014/04/04/chinas-big-ambitions-for-the-jing-jin-ji/.

7. "Most China cities fail to meet air quality standards," BBC, February 3, 2015, accessed at http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/world-asia-china-31110408; "环境保护部发布2014年重点区域和74个城市空气质量状况," Ministry of Environmental Protection, February 2, 2015, accessed at http://www.mep.gov.cn/gkml/hbb/qt/201502/t20150202_295333.htm.

8. Teng Fei, "The True Cost of Coal," Natural Resources Defense Council, November 6, 2014, accessed at http://www.nrdc.cn/coalcap/console/ Public/Uploads/2014/11/06/%E6%8A%A5%E5%91%8A%EF%BC%9A2012%E 7%85%A4%E7%82%AD%E7%9A%84%E7%9C%9F%E5%AE%9E%E6%88%90 %E6%9C%AC.pdf.

9. Benjamin Strauss, "New Analysis Shows Global Exposure to Sea Level Rise," Climate Central, September 23, 2014, accessed at http://www. climatecentral.org/news/new-analysis-global-exposure-to-sea-level-rise-flooding-18066; Robert E. Kopp et al., "Probabilistic 21st and 22nd century sea-level projections at a global network of tide-gauge sites," Earth's Future, 2 (8), August 2014, accessed at http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/ doi/10.1002/2014EF000239/full.

10. Rachel Lu, "March of the Sea Turtles," Foreign Policy, Tea Leaf Nation, January 29, 2014, accessed at http://www.foreignpolicy.com/articles/2014/01/29/march_of_the_sea_turtles_chinese_returnees_leaving_again. (See also "为防止 "海归" 再 "归海" 海外引才需以法留 人," Sina, April 13, 2012, accessed at http://edu.sina.com.cn/a/2012-04-13/1514214304.shtml.)

11. Scott Cendrowski, "Why China's Rich are Leaving," Fortune, June 5, 2014, accessed at http://fortune.com/2014/06/05/china-rich-immigration/. "People moved because they wanted better options for their children's education; they were distressed about the growing pollution problems plaguing China's cities; and they were concerned about food safety in the country, which in the latest scare involved tainted dog treats."

12. Peter Ford, "Beijing is booming, but talent is leaving due to bad air," Christian Science Monitor, April 4, 2013, accessed at http://www.csmonitor.com/World/Asia-Pacific/2013/0404/Beijing-is-booming-but-talent-is-leaving-due-to-bad-air. "China's Smog Splits Expatriate Families as Companies Pay for Fresh Air," Bloomberg, April 8, 2013, accessed at http:// www.boomberg.com/news/2014-04-07/china-s-smog-splits-families-astoxic-pollution-extracts-costs.html.

13. "China's Smog Splits Expatriate Families as Companies Pay for Fresh Air," Bloomberg, April 8, 2013, accessed at http://www.bloomberg.com/news/2014-04-07/china-s-smog-splits-families-as-toxic-pollution-extracts-costs.html.

14. "日企向在华员工发雾霾补贴:中国员工不得申请," Xinhua News, April 4, 2014, assessed at http://www.qh.xinhuanet.com/2014-04/04/

c_1110098864.htm

15. Linda Yu, "Trouble in the Air," American Chamber of Commerce, July/August 2013, accessed at http://www.amcham-shanghai.org/amchamportal/InfoVault_Library/2013/INSIGHT-Trouble-in-the-Air.pdf.

16. Rachel Wang, "Why China's Rich Want to Leave," The Atlantic, April 11, 2013, accessed at http://www.theatlantic.com/china/archive/2013/04/why-chinas-rich-want-to-leave/274920/. "The rich and the highly educated account for the largest group in this emigration trend, according to the infographic. As revealed in a report by China Merchants Bank and Bain & Company, 'Among those mainland business owners who possess over 100 million RMB (about \$16 million), 27 percent have already emigrated, while another 47 percent are considering emigrating."

17. Edward L. Glaeser et al., "Clusters of entrepreneurship," Journal of Urban Economics 67, 150–168, 2010.

18. Peter Ford, "Beijing is booming, but talent is leaving due to bad air," Christian Science Monitor, April 4, 2013, accessed at http://www.csmonitor.com/World/Asia-Pacific/2013/0404/Beijing-is-booming-but-talent-is-leaving-due-to-bad-air; "China's Smog Splits Expatriate Families as Companies Pay for Fresh Air," Bloomberg, April 8, 2013, accessed at http://www.bloomberg.com/news/2014-04-07/china-s-smog-splits-families-astoxic-pollution-extracts-costs.html. "Top Challenge: Two-thirds identify air quality as the top challenge in attracting foreign talent. About 48 percent of respondents to a survey in 2014 by the American Chamber of Commerce for Beijing and Northeastern China said they had difficulties recruiting or retaining senior executives in China due to the pollution."

19. Stefan Ambec et al., "The Porter Hypothesis at 20: CanEnvironmental Regulation Enhance Innovation and Competitiveness?" Review of Environmental Economics and Policy, January 4, 2013, accessed at http://www.louisbachelier.org/sites/default/files/pdf/The%20Porter%20 Hypothesis%20at%2020.pdf.

20. Stefan Ambec et al., "The Porter Hypothesis at 20: CanEnvironmental Regulation Enhance Innovation and Competitiveness?" Review of Environmental Economics and Policy, January 4, 2013, accessed at http://www.louisbachelier.org/sites/default/files/pdf/The%20Porter%20 Hypothesis%20at%2020.pdf.

21. Dallas Burtraw, "Innovation under the tradable sulfur dioxide emission permits program in the U.S. electricity sector," Resources for the Future, Discussion Paper 00-38, 2000, accessed at http://www.rff.org/documents/RFF-DP-00-38.pdf.

22. Philippe Aghion et al., "Carbon Taxes, Path Dependency and Directed Technical Change: Evidence from the Auto Industry," National Bureau of Economic Research, NBER Working Paper No. 18596, December 2012, accessed at http://www.nber.org/papers/w18596. "We show that firms tend to innovate relatively more in clean technologies when they face higher tax-inclusive fuel prices."

23. Bo Jingyan, "环境规制对企业竞争力的影响:对波特假说的检验—— 以东风日产乘用车公司开展节能减排为例," China Industry Security Guide, February 2, 2012, accessed at http://www.acs.gov.cn/sites/aqzn/jrywnry. jsp?contentId=2660582825880.

24. Antoine Dechezleprêtre and Misato Sato, "The impacts of environmentalregulations on competitiveness," London School of Economics, November 2014, accessed at http://personal.lse.ac.uk/ dechezle/Impacts_of_Environmental_Regulations.pdf. See page 17.

25. Daniel H. Rosen and Trevor Houser, "China Energy A Guide for the Perplexed," Peterson Institute for International Economics, May 2007, accessed at http://www.iie.com/publications/papers/rosen0507.pdf. See page 18.

26. Antoine Dechezleprêtre and Misato Sato, "The impacts of environmentalregulations on competitiveness," London School of Economics, November 2014, accessed at http://personal.lse.ac.uk/ dechezle/Impacts_of_Environmental_Regulations.pdf.

27. Tanikawa Hiroya, "Environmental Issues and Technological Innovation - The Relevance the Porter Hypothesis has Today," Research Institute of Economy Trade and Industry (RIETI), October 28, 2003, accessed at http://www.rieti.go.jp/en/columns/a01_0103.html?stylesheet=print.

28. "Country Income Groups (World Bank Classification)," World Bank, accessed September 14, 2015 at http://chartsbin.com/view/2438. See also David I. Stern, "The Environmental Kuznets Curve," Internet Encyclopaedia of Ecological Economics, International Society for Ecological Economics, 2003, accessed at http://isecoeco.org/pdf/stern.pdf.

29. "China Says Air Pollution Affecting Physical, Mental Health of Citizens," Shanghai Daily, November 6, 2013, accessed at http://www.shanghaidaily.com/national/China-says-air-pollution-affecting-physical-mental-health-of-citizens/shdaily.shtml.

30. David I. Stern, "The Environmental Kuznets Curve," Internet

Encyclopaedia of Ecological Economics, International Society for Ecological Economics, 2003, accessed at http://isecoeco.org/pdf/stern.pdf. "The EKC is named for Kuznets (1955) whohypothesized income inequality first rises and then falls as economicdevelopment proceeds;" James Van Alstine and Eric Neumayer, "The Environmental Kuznets Curve," accessed October 30, 2014, at http://www.lse.ac.uk/geographyAndEnvironment/whosWho/ profiles/neumayer/pdf/EKC.pdf.

31. Zheng Siqi and Sun Cong, "中国环境库兹涅茨曲线的平移机会," Tsinghua University, China Academic Journal Electronic Publishing House, October 2012, accessed at http://www.tsinghua.edu.cn/publish/7312/2013/201303 13171109417671818/20130313171328746680952.pdf. "EKC曲线的拐点开始出 现,并存在向左下方平移的发展前景。反思改革开放以来的城市化历程,怎样减 少后发劣势,积累后发优势,并发挥特有制度因素和发展路径中所蕴含的正面力 量,对未来的城市化和环境的可持续发展具有关键性意义."

32. "Fueled by Cheap Chinese Panels, U.S. Solar Use Soars," Wall Street Journal, September 9, 2012, accessed at http://www.wsj.com/articles/SB10 000872396390443589304577637333545350176.

33. "Decision of the Central Committee of the Communist Party of China on Some Major Issues Concerning Comprehensively Deepening the Reform," China.org.cn, January 16, 2014, accessed at http://www.china.org. cn/china/third_plenary_session/2014-01/16/content_31212602.htm. See also Nargiza Salidjanova and Iacob Koch-Weser, "Third Plenum Economic Reform Proposals: A Scorecard," U.S.-China Economic and Security Review Commission, November 19, 2013, accessed at http://origin.www.uscc. gov/sites/default/files/Research/Backgrounder_Third%20Plenum%20 Economic%20Reform%20Proposals--A%20Scorecard%20(2).pdf.

34. "国务院关于印发"十二五"国家战略性:新兴产业发展规划的通知," China State Council, 2012, accessed at http://www.gov.cn/zwgk/2012-07/20/ content_2187770.htm.

 "万钢:"十二五"科技发展推动建设创新型国家,"China Daily, November 3, 2010, accessed at http://www.chinadaily.com.cn/dfpd/2010-11/03/ content_11494658.htm.

36. "'十二五'时期经济社会发展的国内环境," Xinhua, November 9, 2010, accessed at http://news.xinhuanet.com/observation/2010-11/09/ c_12752000.htm.

37. "How Government Policies and Processes Are Hurting Innovation in China," Kowledge@Wharton, December 20, 2013, accessed at http://knowledge.wharton.upenn.edu/article/government-policies-processes-hurting-innovation-china/.

38. "How Government Policies and Processes Are Hurting Innovation in China," Kowledge@Wharton, December 20, 2013, accessed at http:// knowledge.wharton.upenn.edu/article/government-policies-processeshurting-innovation-china/.

39. "Open innovation important in promoting common development, prosperity: Chinese premier," Xinhua, October 15, 2014, accessed at http:// news.xinhuanet.com/english/china/2014-10/15/c_133716620_2.htm.

40. "China shifts from GDP primacy to quality growth," Xinhua, December 12, 2013, accessed at http://news.xinhuanet.com/english/china/2013-12/12/c_132963098.htm.

41. "Report on Circular Economy," China Council for International Cooperation on Environmental Development (CCICED), November 20, 2005, accessed at http://www.cciced.net/encciced/policyresearch/report/201205/t20120529_230487.html.

42. Sheng Ruowei and Du Rong, "人才强国: 跨越发展的中国资源," CPCnews, November 2, 2012, accessed at http://cpc.people.com.cn/ n/2012/1102/c244349-19470189-2.html.

43. 《大力实施人才强国战略》 [Strategy for Becoming a Talent Rich Country], Ministry of Human Resources and Social Security, February 3, 2015, accessed at http://www.mohrss.gov.cn/SYrlzyhshbzb/dongtaixinwen/ buneiyaowen/201502/t20150203_151105.htm.

44. Hongyou Lu and Lynn Price, "China's Industrial Carbon Dioxide Emissions in Manufacturing Subsectors and in Selected Provinces," Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, LBNL-5575E, June 2012, accessed at https://china.lbl.gov/sites/all/files/lbl-5575e-industrialco2-emissionsjune-2012.pdf; He Kebin, "Analysis of PM2.5 Pollution Characteristics and Control Strategies in Jing-Jin-Ji Region," School of Environment, Tsinghua University, November 16, 2013, accessed at http:// www.efchina.org/Attachments/Activity/restoringbluesky-en/7.%20He%20 Kebin_EN.pdf. See pages 17 and 18.

45. 《京津冀及周边地区落实大气污染防治行动计划实施细则》[Detailed Regulations for Implementation of the Action Plan for Air Pollution Prevention and Control in Jing-Jin-Ji and Surrounding Regions], State Council, September 17, 2013, accessed at http://www.mep.gov.cn/gkml/hbb/bwj/201309/t20130918_260414.htm; "环保部公布2014年京津冀钢铁企业大气污染治理名单" [MEP Announces the 2014 Air Pollution Governance List for Steel Companies in Jing-Jin-Ji], August 1, 2014, International Iron

and Steel Information, accessed at http://www.csteelnews.com/xwzx/ djbd/201408/t20140801_251514.html.

46. China Bureau of Statistics, 2015, accessed at http://data.stats.gov.cn/.

47. Zhihao Su and Yajuan Chen, "Research on Strategies of Optimizing Industrial Structure in Hebei Province," Paper Presented at the International Conference on Global Economy, Commerce and Service Science, 2014.

48. Zhang Yu, "Hebei looks to relocate its largest and most polluting industries abroad," Global Times, December 22, 2014.

49. China Bureau of Statistics, 2015, accessed at http://data.stats.gov.cn/.

50. "Crude Steel Production 2014-2015," World Steel Association, accessed on August 6, 2015 at http://www.worldsteel.org/statistics/crude-steel-production.html.

51. Based on a 2014 Tsinghua study, Beijing, Hebei and Tianjin would need to reduce primary PM2.5 emissions by 31.3%, 25.9% and 25.5%, respectively in order to achieve the 2017 ambient air quality targets outlined in the Air Pollution Action Plan. To evaluate the impact of emissions reductions in different sectors on ambient air quality in the Jing-Jin-Ji region, Tsinghua University's School of Environment ran a series of simulations. The simulations employed version 5.0 of the Community Multi-scale Air Quality (CMAQ) model to simulate emissions reductions and their impact on ambient air quality spatially across the Jing-Jin-Ji region. The CMAQ model system simultaneously models multiple air pollutants, including ozone, particulate matter, SO2, NOX, and other primary pollutants that contribute to ambient air quality problems such as PM2.5. For spatial mapping, the simulations used double nesting with resolutions of 36 kilometers (for China) and 12 kilometers (for the JJJ-region). The simulations employed emissions inventories from 2012, using emissions inventories developed at Tsinghua University. The simulations compared ambient air quality of a base case against modelled cases where all primary emissions for each individual sector were uniformly reduced by 30% compared to the base case, while emissions from other sectors were held constant.

52. "基本解决城乡供热瓶颈," Beijing Municipal Commission on Development and Reform, accessed August 27, 2015 at http://www.bjpc. gov.cn/zt/125ny/nygh/sizhang_ny/201106/t821417.htm; "薛惠娟, '为蓝天 白云不懈努力,'" Hebei News, December 7, 2014, accessed at http://hbrb. hebnews.cn/html/2014-12/07/content_44076.htm.

53. Email communications, Jeremy Schreifels, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, September 2015.

54. Email communications, Jeremy Schreifels, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, September 2015.

55. David Fridley et al., "China Energy and Emissions Paths to 2030," Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, LBNL-4866E, August 2012, accessed at http://eaei.lbl.gov/sites/all/files/lbl-4866e-rite-modelaugust2012.pdf.

56. Ali Hasanbeigi, Zeyi Jiang, and Lynn Price, "Analysis of the Past and Future Trends of Energy Use in Key Medium-and Large-Sized Chinese Steel Enterprises 2000-2030," August 2013, Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, accessed at https://china.lbl.gov/sites/all/files/steel_decom_ analysis.pdf.

57. Ali Hasanbeigi, Zeyi Jiang, and Lynn Price, "Analysis of the Past and Future Trends of Energy Use in Key Medium-and Large-Sized Chinese Steel Enterprises 2000-2030," Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, August 2013, accessed at https://china.lbl.gov/sites/all/files/steel_decom_analysis.pdf. "China's energy consumption per tonne of steel has declined significantly, especially since the 1990s, largely due to process restructuring and optimization and phasing out of inefficient backward technologies."

58. Ali Hasanbeigi, Zeyi Jiang, and Lynn Price, "Analysis of the Past and Future Trends of Energy Use in Key Medium-and Large-Sized Chinese Steel Enterprises 2000-2030," Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, August 2013, accessed at https://china.lbl.gov/sites/all/files/steel_decom_analysis.pdf.

59. Ali Hasenbeigi et al., "Assessment of Energy Efficiency Improvement and CO2 Emission Reduction Potentials in the Iron and Steel Industry in China," Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, November 2012, accessed at http://www.iipnetwork.org/CSC_steelindustry.pdf.

60. Ali Hasanbeigi, Zeyi Jiang, and Lynn Price, "Analysis of the Past and Future Trends of Energy Use in Key Medium-and Large-Sized Chinese Steel Enterprises 2000-2030," Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, August 2013, accessed at https://china.lbl.gov/sites/all/files/steel_decom_analysis.pdf.

61. Franc Kaiser, Jan Borgonjon, and James Tang, "China's Automation Tsunami," Inter China Consulting, March 2015, accessed at http://www.interchinaconsulting.com/files/interchina_insight_-whitepaper_-automation_tsunami.pdf.



62. "Renewables 2015 Global Status Report," REN21, accessed at http:// www.ren21.net/wp-content/uploads/2015/06/GSR2015_KeyFindings_ lowres.pdf.

63. "Renewables 2015 Global Status Report," REN21,accessed at http:// www.ren21.net/wp-content/uploads/2015/06/GSR2015_KeyFindings_ lowres.pdf.

64. "可再生能源发展"十二五"规划" [12thFive-Year Plan on Renewable Energy Development], National Energy Administration, August 8, 2012, accessed at http://www.nea.gov.cn/2012-08/08/c_131767651.htm.

65. "国家应对气候变化规划 (2014-2020)" [The National Plan on Climate Change (2014-2020)], National Development and Reform Commission, November 2014, accessed at http://www.scio.gov.cn/xwfbh/xwbfbh/wqfbh/2014/20141125/xgzc32142/Document/1387125/1387125_2.htm.

66. "RenewableEnergyCountryAttractivenessIndex (RECAI),"Ernst & Young (EY), September 2014, accessed at http://www.ey.com/Publication/ vwLUAssets/Renewable-Energy-Country-Attractiveness-Index-42-September-2014-cn/\$FILE/EY-Renewable-Energy-Country-Attractiveness-Index-42-September-2014-cn.pdf. Page 33.

67. Ron Pernick et al., "Clean Energy Trends 2014," Clean Edge, March 2014, accessed at http://cleanedge.com/reports/Clean-Energy-Trends-2014.

68. "Technology Roadmap: Solar Photovoltaic Energy," International Energy Agency, 2014, accessed at https://www.iea.org/media/freepublications/technologyroadmaps/solar/TechnologyRoadmapSolarPhotovoltaicEnergy_2014edition.pdf.

69. Pan Jiahua et al., "Study on Low Carbon Development and Green Employment in China," Institute for Urban and Environmental Studies (IUE) and China Academy of Social Sciences (CASS), 2010, accessed at http://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---asia/---ro-bangkok/---ilo-beijing/documents/publication/wcms_155390.pdf. Page 85.

70. "China's Coal Cap Policy will Increase Country's Clean Energy Jobs," Natural Resources Defense Council, March 26, 2015, accessed at http://www.nrdc.org/media/2015/150326.asp.

71. "Renewable Power Generation Costs in 2014," International Renewable Energy Agency, January 2015, accessed at http://www.irena.org/DocumentDownloads/Publications/IRENA_RE_Power_Costs_2014_report.pdf.

72. "可再生能源创造巨大就业机会" [Renewable Energy Creates Huge Opportunity for Employment], China Energy Newspaper, June 8, 2015, accessed at http://paper.people.com.cn/zgnyb/html/2015-06/08/ content_1574803.htm.

73. Amory B. Lovins and Jon C. Creyts, "Reinventing Fire: Three Energy Gamechangers for China and the World," Rocky Mountain Institute, November 15, 2013, accessed at http://www.rmi.org/Content/Files/20131115_China_Policy_Review-Reinventing_Fire.pdf.

74. Amory Lovins, "Amory Lovins: A 40-Year Plan for Energy," TED Talks, March 2012, accessed at http://www.ted.com/talks/amory_lovins_a_50_ year_plan_for_energy#; Reinventing Fire: China Official Launch, Rocky Mountain Institute, accessed on July 31, 2015 at http://www.rmi.org/ reinventing_fire_china.

75. "Coal consumption in Beijing, Tianjin, Hebei," China Daily, November 14, 2014, http://www.chinadaily.com.cn/beijing/2014-11/14/ content_18912728.htm. Figures are for 2012.

76. "2015年上半年全国风电并网运行情况," National Energy Administration, July 27, 2015, accessed at http://www.nea.gov.cn/2015-07/27/c_134451678.htm.

77. According to maps available at http://solargis.info/, the Central Spain region between Valladolid and Zaragoza has average annual solar irradiation of between 1500-1725 kWh/m2, whereas the northern half of Hebei has average annual solar irradiation of 1500-1700 kWh/m².

78. "一季度全国新增光伏发电并网装机容量504万千瓦," National Energy Administration, April 20, 2015, accessed at http://www.nea.gov.cn/2015-04/20/c_134165328.htm.

79. "一季度河北新增光伏发电并网装机容量2万千瓦," People.com, April 21, 2015, accessed at http://he.people.com.cn/n/2015/0421/c192235-24575130.html.

80. "能源局下发2015年光伏年度计划征求意见稿新增并网15GW," Linuo PV News, January 29, 2015, accessed at http://www.linuopv.com/news-look. aspx?id=540.

81. Stephen Lacey, "China is Falling Short on its Distributed Solar Goals," Greentech Media, January 21, 2015, accessed at http://www.greentechmedia.com/articles/read/china-is-falling-short-on-its-distributed-solar-goals.

82. Paulson Institute interview, August 4, 2015, Handan Textile, Handan Hebei.

83. J. Eon et al., "China's Building Energy Use: A Long-Term Perspective based on a Detailed Assessment," Pacific Northwest National Laboratory, PNNL-21073, January 2012, accessed at http://www.pnnl.gov/main/publications/external/technical_reports/PNNL-21073.pdf. Wei Feng et al., "Evaluation of Energy Savings of the New Chinese Commercial Building Energy Standard," Lawrence Berkeley National Lab and China Academy of Building Research, 2014, accessed at http://accee.org/files/proceedings/2014/data/papers/4-761.pdf.

84. William S. Dietrich, "A Very Brief History of Pittsburgh," Pittsburgh Quarterly, Fall 2008, accessed at http://www.pittsburghquarterly.com/index.php/Region/a-very-brief-history-of-pittsburgh.html.

85. Tim Reed, "Pittsburgh Bound: Greenville Chamber of Commerce Quarterly Update," Greenville Business Magazine, July 1, 2013, accessed at http://www.greenvillebusinessmag.com/View-Article/ArticleID/4433/ Pittsburgh-Bound.aspx.

86. Richey Piiparinen, Jim Russell, and Charlie Post, "From Metals to Minds, Economic Restructuring in the Rust Belt," April 2015, accessed at http://ceosforcitiesworkshop.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/05/From-Metals-to-Minds.pdf.

87. Richey Piiparinen, Jim Russell, and Charlie Post, "From Metals to Minds, Economic Restructuring in the Rust Belt," April 2015, accessed at http://ceosforcitiesworkshop.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/05/From-Metals-to-Minds.pdf.

88. Joel Tarr, "The Changing Face of Pittsburgh, A Historical Perspective, Ensuring Environmental Health in Postindustrial Cities: Workshop Summary," National Academies Press, 2003, accessed at http://www.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK222035/.

89. "The Donora Smog Disaster October 30-31, 1948," Pennsylvania Historical and Museum Commission, accessed September 12, 2015, at http://www.portal.state.pa.us/portal/server.pt/community/documents_from_1946_-_present/20426/donora_smog_disaster/999079.

90. Joel Tarr, "The Changing Face of Pittsburgh, A Historical Perspective, Ensuring Environmental Health in Postindustrial Cities: Workshop Summary," National Academies Press, 2003, accessed at http://www.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK222035/.

91. Richey Piiparinen, Jim Russell, and Charlie Post, "From Metals to Minds, Economic Restructuring in the Rust Belt," April 2015, accessed at http://ceosforcitiesworkshop.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/05/From-Metals-to-Minds.pdf.

92. "Reinventing Pittsburgh as a Green City," Union of Concerned Scientists, accessed on July 22, 2015 at http://www.ucsusa.org/global_warming/solutions/reduce-emissions/reinventing-pittsburgh.html#. VayPCPIViko.

93. "Reinventing Pittsburgh as a Green City," Union of Concerned Scientists, accessed on July 22, 2015 at http://www.ucsusa.org/global_warming/solutions/reduce-emissions/reinventing-pittsburgh.html#. VayPCPIViko.

94. Rick Stouffer, "Wind Turbine Maker Plants Firm Foot in State," Tribe Live, June 7, 2009, accessed at http://triblive.com/x/pittsburghtrib/ business/s_628426.html#axzz3gbwAY4Qp.

95. Richey Piiparinen, Jim Russell, and Charlie Post, "From Metals to Minds, Economic Restructuring in the Rust Belt," April 2015, accessed at http://ceosforcitiesworkshop.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/05/From-Metals-to-Minds.pdf.

96. Richey Piiparinen, Jim Russell, and Charlie Post, "From Metals to Minds, Economic Restructuring in the Rust Belt," April 2015, accessed at http://ceosforcitiesworkshop.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/05/From-Metals-to-Minds.pdf.

97. Richey Piiparinen, Jim Russell, and Charlie Post, "From Metals to Minds, Economic Restructuring in the Rust Belt," April 2015, accessed at http://ceosforcitiesworkshop.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/05/From-Metals-to-Minds.pdf

98. Tim Reed, "Pittsburgh Bound: Greenville Chamber of Commerce Quarterly Update," Greenville Business Magazine, July 1, 2013, accessed at http://www.greenvillebusinessmag.com/View-Article/ArticleID/4433/ Pittsburgh-Bound.aspx.

99. Harold Miller, "Thank Seniors for Helping Us Get Through the Recession," December 5, 2010, accessed at http://pittsburghfuture. blogspot.com/2010/12/thank-seniors-for-helping-us-get.html. "Today, over 116,000 jobs – one-tenth of all jobs in the Pittsburgh region – are in hospitals, outpatient clinics, and doctors' offices. That's both more jobs and a higher share of the region's total employment than the steel industry represented in the 1970s."

100. Richey Piiparinen, "Population growth as the cure for the incredible shrinking city?," New Geography, May 17, 2014, accessed at http://www.

newgeography.com/content/004316-population-growth-cure-incredibleshrinking-city. The 40% figure is derived from the graph. "...Ranking the nation's largest metros (over 1 million people), the highest real per capita metros were Hartford, Boston, and San Francisco, followed by Pittsburgh 6th and Cleveland 11th. Not bad for "dying" metros. Columbus clocked in at 28th, while peer Rust Belt metro Detroit was 44th out of 51."

101. Tim Reed, "Pittsburgh Bound: Greenville Chamber of Commerce Quarterly Update," Greenville Business Magazine, July 1, 2013, accessed at http://www.greenvillebusinessmag.com/View-Article/ArticleID/4433/ Pittsburgh-Bound.aspx.

102. "About," Pittsburgh Community Reinvestment Group, accessed January 6, 2015, at http://www.pcrg.org/about/.

103. "Robotics in the Pittsburgh Region," Pittsburgh Technology Council, June 12, 2014, accessed at http://www.pghtech.org/news-publications/ state-of-the-industry-report/robotics-in-the-pittsburgh-region.aspx#. VK4u1CuUfDY.

104. "Job Creation in the Pittsburgh Region," Pittsburgh's Future, accessed January 6, 2015, at http://www.pittsburghfuture.com/economy.html.

105. "Competition and the Decline of the Rust Belt," Federal Reserve Bank of Minneapolis, December 20, 2014, accessed at https://www.minneapolisfed.org/research/economic-policy-papers/competition-and-the-decline-of-the-rust-belt.

106. "Ohio's Cloudy Future: The Decline of the Big Eight," The Hampton Institute, August 22, 2015, accessed at http://www.hamptoninstitution.org/bigeight.html#.VagjNPIViko.

107. "Cuyahoga River," United States Environmental Protection Agency, accessed on July 22, 2015 at http://www.epa.gov/greatlakes/aoc/cuyahoga/.

108. "Restoring Prosperity: Transforming Ohio's Communities for the Next Economy," The Brookings Institution Metropolitan Policy Program, 2010, accessed at http://www.brookings.edu/~/media/Research/Files/Reports/2010/2/22-ohio-prosperity/ohio_report.PDF.

109. "China's Hebei Province to Shut More Steel Capacity if Conditions Allow," Reuters, March 7, 2014, accessed at http://www.reuters.com/article/2014/03/07/china-steel-hebei-idUSL3N0M42R020140307.

110. James T. Areddy, "In Toledo, the 'Glass City,' New Label: Made in China," Wall Street Journal, August 29, 2010, accessed at http://www.wsj. com/articles/SB10001424052748703428604575418680197041878.

111. Judy Keen, "Toledo Reinvests Itself as a Solar Power Innovator," USA Today, June 15, 2010, accessed at http://usatoday30.usatoday.com/money/industries/energy/2010-06-15-toledo15_CV_N.htm.

112. "Ohio Solar," Solar Energy Industries Association, accessed on July 22, 2015 at http://www.seia.org/state-solar-policy/ohio.

113. Judy Keen, "Toledo reinvents itself as a solar-power innovator," USA Today, June 10, 2015, accessed at http://usatoday30.usatoday.com/money/ industries/energy/2010-06-15-toledo15_CV_N.htm.

114. Judy Keen, "Toledo reinvents itself as a solar-power innovator," USA Today, June 10, 2015, accessed at http://usatoday30.usatoday.com/money/industries/energy/2010-06-15-toledo15_CV_N.htm.

115. "Ohio's Renewable Energy Portfolio Standard," The Public Utilities Commission of Ohio, accessed on July 22, 2015 at http://www.puco.ohio.gov/puco/index.cfm/industry-information/industry-topics/ohioe28099s-renewable-and-advanced-energy-portfolio-standard/#sthash.2GAcoPcV. dpbs.

116. Tyrel Linkhorn, "Solar Specialists Optimistic of Industry Developments," June 17, 2015, accessed at http://www.toledoblade.com/Energy/2015/06/17/ Solar-specialists-optimistic-of-industry-developments.html.

117. Kathiann M. Kowalski, "Combined Heat and Power has Promise, Faces Hurdles in Ohio," Midwest Energy News, April 11, 2014, accessed at http://midwestenergynews.com/2014/04/11/combined-heat-and-powerhas-promise-faces-hurdles-in-ohio/; Capturing Energy Waste in Ohio: Using Combined Heat and Power to Upgrade our Electric System, Policy Matters Ohio, March 8, 2012, accessed at http://www.policymattersohio.org/ combined-heat-power-march2012.

118. Richey Piiparinen, Jim Russell, and Charlie Post, "From Metals to Minds, Economic Restructuring in the Rust Belt," April 2015, accessed at http://ceosforcitiesworkshop.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/05/From-Metals-to-Minds.pdf.

119. Richey Piiparinen, Jim Russell, and Charlie Post, "From Metals to Minds, Economic Restructuring in the Rust Belt," April 2015, accessed at http://ceosforcitiesworkshop.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/05/From-Metals-to-Minds.pdf.

120. Richey Piiparinen, Jim Russell, and Charlie Post, "From Metals to Minds, Economic Restructuring in the Rust Belt," April 2015, accessed at

http://ceosforcitiesworkshop.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/05/From-Metals-to-Minds.pdf.

121. Douglas J. Guth, "'Cluster Economy' can Create a Critical Mass of Expertise in Cleveland," Freshwater, November 11, 2014, accessed at http://www.freshwatercleveland.com/features/piiparinen111114.aspx.

122. Richey Piiparinen, Jim Russell, and Charlie Post, "From Metals to Minds, Economic Restructuring in the Rust Belt," April 2015, accessed at http://ceosforcitiesworkshop.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/05/From-Metals-to-Minds.pdf.

123. Alexis Stephens, "There's a Reason you're Hearing So Much about Cleveland These Days," Next City, September 19, 2014, accessed at https:// nextcity.org/daily/entry/cleveland-downtown-playhouse-square-arts-culture.

124. "Gross Domestic Product 2014," World Development Indicators Database, World Bank, July 1, 2015, accessed at http://databank.worldbank.org/data/download/GDP.pdf.

125. David Cay Johnston, "State's Job Growth Defies Predictions after Tax Increases," Sacramento Bee, July 20, 2014, accessed at http://www.sacbee.com/opinion/california-forum/article2604184.html.

126. "The Southland's War on Smog: Fifty Years of Progress toward Clean Air (through May 1997)," South Coast Air Quality Management District, accessed Jarnuary 8, 2015, at http://www.aqmd.gov/home/library/public-information/publications/50-years-of-progress.

127. Eli Berman and Linda T. M. Bui, "Environmental Regulation and Productivity: Evidence from Oil Refineries," Review of Economics and Statistics, MIT Press, Vol. 83, No. 3, Pages 498-510, August 2001, accessed at http://www.mitpressjournals.org/doi/abs/10.1162/00346530152480144#. VK3x6iuUfDY.

128. Lan Tao et al., "Innovation as response to emissions legislation: Revisiting the automotive catalytic converter at Johnson Matthey," Institute for Manufacturing, Centre for Technology Management, February 2009, accessed at http://www.ifm.eng.cam.ac.uk/uploads/Research/CTM/ Resources/09_03_tao_ridgman.pdf.

129. Lan Tao et al., "Innovation as response to emissions legislation: Revisiting the automotive catalytic converter at Johnson Matthey," Institute for Manufacturing, Centre for Technology Management, February 2009, accessed at http://www.ifm.eng.cam.ac.uk/uploads/Research/CTM/ Resources/09_03_tao_ridgman.pdf. "From the first two-way oxidation catalysts to today's advanced three-way catalysts, a discontinuous innovation has been followed up by a series of incremental innovations as regulations were further tightened."

130. Belinda Chen et al., "Effect of Emissions Regulation on Vehicle Attributes, Cost, and Price," Institute of Transportation Studies, University of California, Davis, October 18, 2004, accessed at http://www.its.ucdavis.edu/wp-content/themes/ucdavis/pubs/download_pdf.php?id=200. See page 14 for cost estimates and graphs on page 18 for corporate profits and page 22 for vehicle sales.

131. "Assembly Bill 32 Overview," California Environmental Protection Agency Air Resources Board, September 27, 2006, accessed at http://www.arb.ca.gov/cc/ab32/ab32.htm.

132. "California's Commitment to Renewable Energy," Union of Concerned Scientists, accessed on July 27, 2015 at http://www.ucsusa.org/clean_energy/smart-energy-solutions/increase-renewables/renewable-energy-in-california.html#.VbKwgflViko.

133. "California's Energy Efficiency Standards Have Saved US\$ 74 Billion," California Energy Commission, accessed on July 27, 2015 at http://www.energy.ca.gov/efficiency/savings.html.

134. "California has Largest Advanced Energy Industry in U.S., with Over 430,000 Workers, According to First-Ever State Employment Survey," Advanced Energy Economy Institute, December 4, 2014, accessed at https://www.aee.net/articles/california-has-largest-advanced-energy-industry-in-u-s-with-over-430-000-workers-according-to-first-ever-state-employment-survey.

135. "California has Largest Advanced Energy Industry in U.S., with Over 430,000 Workers, According to First-Ever State Employment Survey," Advanced Energy Economy Institute, December 4, 2014, accessed at http://info.aee.net/hs-fs/hub/211732/file-2173902479-pdf/PDF/aeei-california-advanced-energy-employment-survey-fnl.pdf.

136. "Clean Energy Patent Growth Index," Heslin Rothenberg Farley & Mesiti, April 17, 2015, accessed at http://www.cepgi.com/2015/04/2014-year-end.html.

137. "California has Largest Advanced Energy Industry in U.S., with Over 430,000 Workers, According to First-Ever State Employment Survey," Advanced Energy Economy Institute, December 4, 2014, accessed at http://

info.aee.net/hs-fs/hub/211732/file-2173902479-pdf/PDF/aeei-california-advanced-energy-employment-survey-fnl.pdf.

138. Based on closed door discussion hosted by the Paulson Institute in Los Altos, California on July 23, 2015.

139. Vauhini Vara, "How California Bested Texas," The New Yorker, January 8, 2015, accessed at http://www.newyorker.com/business/currency/ california-bested-texas.

140. Mark Muro, Jonathan Rothwell, Scott Andes, Kenan Fikri, and Siddharth Kulkarni, "America's Advanced Industries: What they are, Where they are, and Why they Matter," Brookings Institute, February 2015, accessed at http://www.brookings.edu/research/reports2/2015/02/03-advanced-industries#/M10420.

141. Mark Muro, Jonathan Rothwell, Scott Andes, Kenan Fikri, and Siddharth Kulkarni, "America's Advanced Industries: What they are, Where they are, and Why they Matter," Brookings Institute, February 2015, accessed at http://www.brookings.edu/research/reports2/2015/02/03-advanced-industries#/M10420.

142. "California has Largest Advanced Energy Industry in U.S., with Over 430,000 Workers, According to First-Ever State Employment Survey," Advanced Energy Economy Institute, December 4, 2014, accessed at https://www.aee.net/articles/california-has-largest-advanced-energy-industry-in-u-s-with-over-430-000-workers-according-to-first-ever-state-employment-survey. "Advanced energy jobs grew 5 percent in the past year – more than double the overall state job growth rate – and is on track to grow 17 percent in the coming year, to more than 500,000 workers, based on employer hiring plans."

